

Understanding some cultural barriers to women's access to education A case study in rural Nepal.

Sanumaiya Bhandary

Supervisor

Associate Professor Lars Laird Iversen

This Master's Thesis is submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the MA degree at

MF Norwegian School of Theology [2017, Autumn]

AVH5035: Master's Thesis (60 ECTS)

Master in Religion, Society and Global Issues

33000 words (including bibliography and front page)

Abstract

This empirical research carried out in rural area in Nepal, and examines how cultural barriers

influence on women's access to education. This study is based on data collected through

interviews with local Nepalese women in rural area of Nepal and is attempting to answer the

question: "In what ways might cultural barriers influence Nepalese women's access to

education in rural areas?" A qualitative method was chosen for the study using semi-

structured interviews with open-ended questionnaires as data collection methods. The

empirical findings have been clarified with nine Nepalese women from rural area in Nepal.

Based on the data from interviews, some cultural barriers influenced women's access to

education. These cultural barriers are as follows: early marriage, caste-based gender

discrimination, household work and the high value of a son. It was also found that daughters

were not valued by their parents when it comes to educational opportunities because of

traditional cultural beliefs and practices in Nepalese society. The findings of this study

indicated that early marriage was major problem for women's access to education in rural

area. In this regard, parents held traditional cultural beliefs of early marriage before first time

menstruation of their daughters.

On the other problem is household work, since early age, the women in this study were

engaged in household work helping the mother in the kitchen and working in agriculture

fields. Parents forced their daughters to stay at home and become proficient in household

work rather than pursing their education. Likewise, the high value of son and caste-based

discrimination also influenced women's access to education. This thesis discussed and

analyzed that these cultural barriers were major challenges and problems for women's access

to education in rural area of Nepal.

Key words: Rural Nepal, Women, traditional culture and Education

ii

Acknowledgement

Many people contributed, in their different ways to making this research possible. I would

like to thank the people who have guided me and encouraged me along the way.

First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisor, Lars Laird Iversen for his valuable

advice, useful comments, feedback and motivation during the preparation of this thesis. The

work would not have been possible without the encouragement, guidance, and support of my

supervisor. His encouragement, guidance, and the time he invested can never be expressed

adequately in words.

I would like to express deep gratitude to all my informants in Nepal for spending the time to

me, during the harvesting season in the fields. I am so thankful to you all for time and

confidence in me.

I extend my sincere gratitude to my all family for motivating me towards success. Yours

inspiration and guidance have always generated confidence in me to move towards.

I would like to thank my beloved husband Jeevan for making this research possible in the first

place. His support, encouragement and love throughout the process has been invaluable for

the outcome of my studies. Thanks for being part of my life.

A huge thanks to David C Mauk, for proofreading the paper. I would like to thank my

Norwegian friend Irmelin Marie Benes she always encouraged my study.

I cannot attempt to mention by name everyone who helped me during my study. Nevertheless,

I would like to thank for all of them.

Finally, I thanks to God for all the blessings.

Sanumaiya Bhandary

Oslo, Norway

August 2017

iii

Table of Contents

AbstractI	[
Acknowledgment	Π
AbbreviationsV	/I
List of Figures	/II
List of TableV	/II
Chapter 1: Introduction1	-8
1.1 Introduction	
1.2 Personal Interest	
1.3 Research Question5	
1.4 Purpose of Research	
1.5 An Overview of Research Methods)
1.6 Outline of the Thesis	,
Chapter 2: Background of the Study 9	-12
2.1 Geographical Context of Nepal	1
2.2 Socio-Cultural Context	0
2.3 The situation of women in Nepal	0
Chapter 3: Methodological Considerations1	3-30
3.1 Research Design	3
3.1.1 Validity and Reliability	3
3.1.2 Role of Researcher	4
3.1.3 Qualitative and Quantitative Methods	6
3.2 Data Collection Tools and Techniques	8
3.2.1 Selecting the Participants	8
3.2.2 'Situating' Myself as a Researcher	
3.2.3 Interviews	
3.2.4 Use of Tape Recorder	
3.2.5 Transcription of Interviews	
3.3 Overview of Participants	
3.4 Choice of Qualitative research	

3.5	Data Analysis Method	27
3.6	Ethical Consideration	28
	3.6.1 Informed Consent.	28
	3.6.2 Confidentiality	.29
Cha	apter 4: Theoretical considerations	.31-42
4.1	The Concept of Culture	31
4.2	Caste system	.33
4.3 1	Household work	.35
4.4 \$	Son preference	.36
4.5 1	Early marriage	.38
4.6 l	Empowerment theory	.40
	4.6.1 Women's empowerment	.41
Cha	apter 5: Findings	.43-57
5.1 \$	Some cultural barriers to women's access to education	.43
	5.1.1 Early marriage	.44
	5.1.2 Household work	48
	5.1.3 Caste based gender discrimination	51
	5.1.4 The high value of son	53
Cha	apter 6: Discussion	58-72
	Some cultural barriers to women's access to education	58
	6.1.1 Early marriage	
	6.1.2 Household work	
	6.1.3 The high value of son	65
	6.1.4 Caste based gender discrimination	69
Cha	apter 7: Conclusion	.73
	· diography	
	pendices	
	Appendix 1: Interview guide	90
	Appendix 2: Map of Nepal	.92

List of abbreviations

ADB : Asian Development Bank

CBS : Central Bureau Statist

CRDHPA : Centre for Research on Environment Health and Population Activities

DFID : Department for International Development

EFA : Education for All

HDI : Human Development Index

HDR : Human Development Report

INGOs : International Non- Governmental Organizations

IRIN : Integrated Regional Information Networks

KM : Kilo Meters

MOE : Ministry of Education

NCR : National Census Report

NGOs : Non- Governmental Organizations

SLC : School Leaving Certificate

UNDP : United Nations Development Program

UNESCO : United Nations Educational Scientific and Cultural Organization

UNFPA : United Nations Population Fund

UNICEF : United Nations Child's Fund

UN : United Nations

VDC : Village Development Committee

WB : World Bank

List of Figures

Two women are harvesting the millet in the field	22
One woman is carrying the paddy	22
One woman is cooking rice and meat	22
One woman is cutting grass	22
List of Table	
Showing about the participants backgrounds	43

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Introduction

Women are very important agents in their families and society. Education of all people – both men and women - is one of the most necessary factors for the complete development of the individual's personality and the maintenance of stable relations between the society and its members. Yet in the Nepalese context, especially in rural area, many women are still illiterate. This is because of cultural beliefs and practices that present serious problems for women's access to education. Bista (2004) asserts that in Nepalese society, religious beliefs, cultural practices and parents' attitudes do not favor daughters' education to the same extent as sons'. The dominant social structure influences all aspects of the social, cultural, educational and economic life of women in Nepalese society. This structure allocates women restricted roles, which most often involve in household work and family responsibilities. Within the framework of their traditional household work and family responsibilities, Nepalese women have received a disproportionately small share of family resources and educational opportunities.

Many Nepalese women have internalized the attitude that household and family responsibilities make it difficult for them to gain access to education. Discriminatory practices against women are deep rooted in Nepalese society. Unequal treatment prevents women's access to opportunities in life because women in Nepal bear a subordinate position in society (Pandya, et., al. 2006). In the traditional view of many parents in rural area of the country, daughters must be engaged in household chores instead of education. Moreover, although girls often must spend many hours every day in domestic chores, this fact is not reflected in the conventional definitions of work in Nepalese society (Assaad, et., al 2010).

Women's household responsibilities are often seen as benefits for the family that cannot be put at risk for women's education (Basnet et al., 2013). In this study, daughters of all ages and abilities energetically care for younger siblings and perform household chores such as cooking, cleaning, and feeding etc. On the other hand, men control the decision-making process, property ownership and other resources, whereas women's tasks (which mainly include domestic work, subsistence agriculture and services) have low productivity, are unpaid and are not even considered to be of economic value.

Moreover, marriage is one of the social institutions that is culturally determined, and so is regarded and carried out differently in different cultures. There is a significant difference in what constitutes marriage in western countries and developing countries. Important changes that are common in the West have not occurred in Nepal. Even though the people regard marriage as a social institution for the regulation of rights and duties in relation to inheritance and succession, due to the patriarchal socio-cultural and religious practices of early marriage, marriage gives no rights and duties of inheritance and succession to girls in Nepal. Marriage is regarded as a contract between kin groups, not individuals in a Nepalese context. This tradition cuts off girls' childhood and deprives them of the opportunity of an education, thus compromising on their fundamental human rights (Keesing ,1998). In this study, the religious beliefs and cultural practices favored the marriage of daughters at a very early age, often before their first menstruation. The practice of early marriage prevails mostly in high-caste families, because it is a matter of honor for them (Acharya et., al 2007). There is also the concept expressed in the word "Kanyadan," which signifies the giving away of daughters.

Although UNICEF has defined marriage under 18 years of age as an "early marriage", 51% Nepalese girls marry as children (UNICEF,2011). Such a practice carries with it devastating results for young girls' health and well-being, yet the social, economic and cultural pressures connected with rural local culture and tradition in Nepal makes the situation difficult to change. Officially it is against the law to marry under the age of 20, but the law is often ignored, particularly in rural areas (Ingber, 2011). In addition, various factors interact to cause early marriages. Among these causal factors are economic survival, the protection of young girls' virginity, family pressure, controlling female behavior and sexuality, and socio-cultural and religious values. When girls are married as children, they are denied an education and opportunities to develop their potential at a pivotal life stage (Baysenge,1998).

The socio-cultural reasons, Nepal is one of the highest indices of son preference country in the world (Pandey, 2011). In this practice, the preference for sons are believed that they are believed to be the old age support for parents, and way to preserve the family name. Also, they are carry out rituals after their parents die. In contrast, daughters become part of other lineages and households when they get married. Sons are believed to be equally important for the family's economic benefit through their employment, whereas daughters are the source of

_

¹ "Kanyadan" is associated with the marriage system and means 'The gift of a virgin'

expenditure mainly through marriage ceremony and the dowry system. Thus, many parents preferred to send their sons, rather than their daughters to school.

Moreover, son preference is generally viewed as a socially determined bias. In a patriarchal society, the parents' priority is the male child, who has culturally admired characteristics, familial duties, social status and economic potentially. This preference often influences sons' behavior and may result in gender biases that negatively impact of women's educational opportunities (Basnet et., al 2013). In this sense, women are disadvantaged in the patriarchal society which results into gender discrimination by their parents and brothers. Apart from the negative impact of gender discrimination, the preference for the male gender deprives many women of their right to education. In this regard, Pandey (2006) argues that parents do not see any future value in education for their daughters.

Caste based gender discrimination is also major social problem for women's access to education in rural area. There, getting access to education for lower-caste women is difficult due to the traditional cultural values and practices of the society. Lower-caste children are not allowed to go to school with high-caste children. Moreover, lower-caste parents with limited resources cannot afford the necessary clothes, books, paper and writing materials, and so on for daughters' education. Besides, higher-caste women feel humiliated if they do the same tasks as low-caste women. One must remember that high-caste people do not hesitate to beat lower-caste people in public places if they are found to break religious norms and values (Dalit Welfare Organization, 2010). Because of these practices in the Nepalese society, lower-caste women do not have the privilege of access to education, which limits their opportunity to get jobs and social opportunities.

Furthermore, lower-caste women face multiple forms of discrimination, as women, poor people and as members of the lower caste. They are forced to live in the most vulnerable conditions. They constitute the major part of the workforce occupied with hard manual labor and every day are engaged in agricultural work with high-caste families. They suffer from a vicious cycle of poverty over many generations and long-term inhumane behavior from high caste people.

Education plays an important role in reducing negative socio-cultural values from the society and helps promote positive thinking towards women's education. Abera Regassa, (1999) says education plays an important role in promoting respect for human rights, creating the preconditions for equality, mutual understanding and cooperation among people. Moreover, education also changes women's childbearing behavior (Subedi,1997). Delaying childbearing and having fewer children are more common among educated women.

Education has not only helped women to gain a better understanding of their socio-cultural roles, but also helps them to reduce social and economic dependency (Pokherl, 2012). Men often hide information from illiterate women even when it could be important for family relationships and plans to share it with them. This secrecy makes women less able than men in terms of knowledge and understanding, to participate in, and take advantage of various activities and services (Rodda,1991).

This study demonstrates how several cultural barriers influence women's access to education in a rural area of Nepal. The primary influential factors in question are early marriage, the burdens of household work and agriculture, poor economic conditions, caste-based discrimination, and the much higher value Nepalese culture gives to having a son than to having a daughter. Many NGOs and INGOs working in rural area of Nepal implement various programs in the name of women's development that avoid marginalizing women's education. The government of Nepal has made policies that create opportunities for women to gain better status in the society. Yet the fact remains that there is still a huge difference between men's and women's literacy rates. If we look at the situation of women in rural area, we find that many women's lives are characterized by a low level of access to social, political, educational and healthcare opportunities due to the lack of education. This research project attempts to understand how cultural barriers influence women's access to education in one such rural area.

1.2Personal Interest

To start with, I am from a rural area in Nepal and this is part of my personal experience. I was born, grew up and completed my secondary education in a rural area of Nepal where cultural beliefs and practices have played vital roles in women's lives and their right to education. I have seen and learned a lot from that experience. I witnessed many women facing

a lot of problems at home and in society due to their lack of education. They wake up early in the morning, two hours before the rest of the family. They finished all the housework, cook breakfast and get prepared to go the jungle to collect grass and firewood. After they get back from the jungle, they go to work in the family's agricultural fields.

They never ate their full. They had to cook for all family members, but were not allowed to eat together with them because they had to wait until all the other family members finished eating. After they get married, their parents-in-law and husband behaved violently toward them. They were not permitted to talk to Nepalese men. Their lives consisted of a round of household tasks and caring for farm animals. They became very sad from their life and said, "if we had gotten educational opportunity, we might have had a job and happy life." However, I was the eye- witness to much violence toward women in the family and society due to lack of education.

From a personal standpoint, this research in interesting to me because it deals with the rural area in Nepal that I knew and where I found many problems for women without education. This rural area that is not new to me. This thesis an opportunity for me to document and analyze how cultural barriers there influence women's access to education. I also believe that I have the potential of providing new positive change in these women's lives due to my higher education from Norway.

1.3 Research Question

This dissertation is focused on one main research question:

In what ways might cultural barriers influence Nepalese women's access to education in a rural area?

Through this project I try to answer this question by analyzing some culture barriers that have influence on women's access to education in a rural area in Nepal. I have used qualitative research methods for data collection and conducted semi-structured interviews.

1.4 Purpose of Research

The purpose of this research is to understand some cultural barriers that influence women's access to education in rural Nepal. This topic is of high importance considering the situation

of women without education in rural areas of the country. Officially, the government of Nepal recognizes that the realities of the situation of uneducated women in rural areas and offers women equal educational opportunities, but existing traditional cultural beliefs and practices nevertheless limit them to access to education. To change the situation, we should examine how some cultural barriers and gender inequality act as major hindrances to women's education in rural Nepalese society. This dissertation draws attention to the ways that the cultural barriers documented here are at the heart of the problem of educating rural women in Nepal.

In Nepal, early marriage is still a very common cultural practice, especially in rural area. Parents there usually believe that to marry off daughters before their first menstruation is a good deed will open the door to heaven for them after death. This conviction still exerts a great deal of influence in Nepalese culture. This belief appears in the data from the study because it continues as a common practice in the culture where all my participants grew up. Women in the rural area recognized it as a problem for their access to education. Regarding another influential factor, the preference for having a son and seeing to his education, many parents were conscious about their sons' education and required daughters to learn and carry out all household work. These are two of the issues that lead me to choose this topic for my thesis.

Through analysis and discussion concerning how some cultural barriers influence women's education in this specific context, I hope to contribute to the evaluation and development of the situation. My aim is to add to current knowledge of the impact of cultural beliefs and practices on rural women's education, since access to education plays an important role in bringing change to women's lives in rural area.

1.5 An Overview of Research Methods

The researcher adopted qualitative methods to answer the research question. Qualitative methods helped to explore in depth issues surrounding traditional cultural attitudes regarding women's education and yielded new insights into the topic. Qualitative data was collected from local Nepalese women in the rural area. A total number of nine informants were purposefully chosen and interviewed using an opened- ended interview guide.

Data was collected using a semi-structured questionnaire for the interviews and before the interviews were carried out, an interview guide with some clear questions was prepared. The construction of data collection tools was guided by the objectives of the study and ethical issues. During the process of data collection, the researcher observed all the rights of respondents. The ethical considerations included the respect for the respondents' freedom, privacy, confidentiality and avoidance of harm.

Data analysis for the qualitative data began with including themes from the recorded semi-structured interviews. I recorded all interviews on a tape recorder and coded all answers. The recordings were transferred subsequently to a computer and through it, transcribed and analyzed. Short notes were also made during the interviews to aid the transcription. The transcriptions were read several times to ascertain the facts and make appropriate interpretations. Conclusions based on the qualitative research findings allowed me to make recommendations to promote women's education and women empowerment in the rural area. Methodological issues will be further dealt with in chapter three.

1.6 Outline of the Thesis

This thesis is divided into seven chapters outlined as follows:

Chapter One: Introduction

This chapter introduces of the thesis. It provides a personal interest, research question, purpose of research and an overview of research methods.

Chapter Two: Background of the Study

This chapter outlines the geographical and socio-cultural context of Nepal. It provides a detailed account of religion, ethnic diversity and caste system, together with a short description of socio-political situation in Nepal. In addition, it presents thereafter the situation of women in Nepal. This background material serves as a part of the framework for the debate and discussion later in the thesis.

Chapter Three: Methodological Considerations

In this chapter, I will introduce the methodological choices I made during the research process. First, I will present research design, which includes discussions of validity, reliability, the role of researcher, and qualitative and quantitative methods. Thereafter, I will

focus on the methods used for producing data collection tools and techniques, mainly the selection of participations, 'situating' myself as a researcher, interviews, use of tape recorder, and transcription of interviews. I also present the overview of participants. I continue by describing choice of qualitative method and discuss why this method was the best for my research. The last section of the chapter, I describe the data analysis method and discuss ethical considerations that arose during the interviews.

Chapter four: Theoretical Considerations

This chapter presents theoretical concepts related to the research question and objectives of the study. First and foremost, I will start with the conceptual framework whilst focusing on culture. Thereafter, I will discuss the Caste System, Household Works, Son Preference and Early Marriage. The last section of the chapter, I will present the empowerment theory focusing on women empowerment will be given.

Chapter five: findings

This chapter includes the description of views and experiences derived from research participants, as well as the data obtained from semi-structured interviews. I have interviewed nine women from rural area in Nepal. The quotations are used to present the views and experiences of participants in their own words without any alteration. The author translated all quotations from the Nepali language.

Chapter six: Discussion

This chapter presents the main findings from the interviews I conducted with nine informants, discuss these in relation to the theories presented in chapter four, and on this basis, attempt to answers my research question. Due to the limited scope of this thesis, I will not able to discuss all the findings from the interviews, but focus largely on those problems that can help to understand cultural barriers to women's access to education in rural area.

Chapter seven: Conclusion

This chapter concludes some of the major findings that emerged from the interviews with nine local Nepalese women in rural area.

Chapter 2: Background of the Study

This chapter outlines the geographical and socio-cultural context of Nepal. It provides a detailed account of religion, ethnic diversity and caste system, together with a short description of socio-political situation in Nepal. In addition, it presents thereafter the situation of women in Nepal. This background material serves as a part of the framework for the debate and discussion later in the thesis.

2.1 Geographical Context of Nepal

Nepal is a small, landlocked country boarding Tibet (China) to its north, and India to its east, west, and south. Nepal has diverse geographic landscape covering approximately 147,181 square km, which varies from 60 to 8,848 meters above sea level. Despite its small size, Nepal is an extremely diverse country. Geographically, the country contains three regions: Mountains, Hills, and Terai. The southern lowland plains of the Terai have a subtropical to tropical climate. The Mountain Region, situated in the great Himalayan Range; make up the northern part of Nepal. It contains the highest elevations in the world, including the 8848-meter-high Mount Everest. The Hill Region is mostly 1,000 and 4,000 meters in altitude. Nepal's major North-South- flowing river systems intersect these ecological East-West belts. The average annual precipitation varies from as little as 160 millimeters in the rain shadow North of Himalayas to as much as 5500 millimeters on windward slopes (Dahal, Hasegawa 2008). Politically, Nepal has five development regions and multiple lower levels of government (Lohani et al 2010).

Moreover, Nepal is a small buffer state with a population of 26.6 million, with 12.9 million males and 13.6 million females (Central Bureau Statistics, 2012). In Nepal, around 40 percent population is illiterate. The current Central Bureau of Statistics (CBS, 2012) report explains that male literacy rate is 75.1 percent and female literacy rate is 57.4 percent. The highest literacy rate is in Kathmandu district (83.3%) and the lowest in Rauthat district (41.7%). Hindu belief views men and women as complementing halves that are equal in strength, but men throughout the centuries have dominated and designated themselves as the superior gender. Reinforced so frequently and in so many ways, this belief leads many women in Nepal to think of their husbands as their God, someone she worships. For these women today, following a man's orders without question is a form of servility that seems natural.

2.2 Socio- Cultural Context

Nepal is a multi- ethnic and multicultural country. The 2011 census recorded 126 caste and ethnic groups, 123 languages and 10 religious groups (CBS 2012,4). 81 percent of the population is Hindu. In terms of ethnic groups is no clear majority but numerous minorities (Thapa and Sijapati,2004:77). Nepal has a traditionally rigid caste system, which is a result of the ancient orthodox Indian caste system that continues to influence social stratification as a method of ordering an individual's role in the society (Burbank, 1994). Each caste has its own language and culture.

The caste categories are hereditary, which Hindus regard as the dominant and ruling philosophy of the religion that links power and social order. The inherent superiority of some castes and the inferiority of others is one of the Hinduism's central elements. Because the people perform caste- based work, higher caste people work on a high level, and lower caste people do the low-level work. They are humbled in relation to high caste people because of the work they do. Lower caste people are also less privileged with regard to education, and thus they have a lower level of literacy, which limits their opportunity to get employment.

The Hindu caste system is one of the fundamental aspects of Nepali society. The caste system plays an important role in determining an individual's socio-economic status, political power, behavior and obligations, and has an essential function in governing relationships both within and between the caste groups (Pandey, 2005). After the 1990s, constitutional changes, development programs by governmental and non-governmental organizations, the announcement that Nepal as secular state in 2006, and an increasing number of inter-caste marriages have contributed towards breaking down the restrictions of the caste system. At the same time, positive changes have also occurred benefitting rural communities, especially their Hindus and lower-caste women.

2.3 The Situation of women in Nepal

Although women comprise over 50% of the population, Nepalese society is patriarchal across all the different castes, cultures, and traditions in the country. Nepalese women are still very much under the rule of their husband and they expected to take care of the household, children, husband, community matters, and relatives, leaving their personal interests aside (Bhusal,2008). These matters are expected to be a women's personal interests.

The tradition of girls going away to their husband's house upon marriage has lessened their status even within their own family. To add to this plight, the custom of giving a dowry to daughter during the wedding has made them a huge financial burden and liability for the parents, further decreasing their prestige and status in the family. Even a highly-educated daughter has less decision-making power than a less educated son. The differences are even greater between husband and wife. This is often because girls get married at a very young age and are not given the opportunity or respect to voice their opinion in their family. The situation for women is characterized by a low level of access to education, healthcare, and social and political opportunities. Education can play vital role to make a capable population of women for family, society and country. Due to the lack of education, women cannot support themselves and need to depend on men for survival.

They are therefore too immature to decide and have no choice about the timing of marriage and their partner. According to Nepalese government sources, thousands of Nepali Girls leave school every year to get married, missing out on their education. For instance, the girls' dropout is high in the Terai region, where more than 50% of marriages involve girls under the age of 12. Many children do not attain school. Most of those excluded are girls, especially those who were married at a young age (IRIN, 2012). Tradition leads the girls to take on roles for which they are not psychologically or physically prepared, which contributes to a series of negative result, both for the girls and their society.

Moreover, marriage and childbearing persist among women in many south Asian countries including Nepal. The government and human rights groups are working together in these issues to reduce the traditional practices. As the women are sent to their husband's house through marriage, they are considered as part of the other family, which may occur when they reach a teen age, but it can take place any time. So, from these many perspectives, women are seriously disadvantaged than men in Nepalese Society, particularly in education and economic status. These conditions still exist, especially in the rural areas of Nepal.

The patriarchal authoritarian family structure has been common in Nepal, where men are considered superior to female dominating in every aspect of their personal, social and domestic life (Gyawali,2006). Thus, the Nepalese women socially, educationally and

economically depend on the authority of men. They are mostly assigned to perform the traditional roles, for instance: household chores, child bearing and caring for husband's family and husband.

The situation of many Nepalese women is made more difficult and problematic because some aspects of Hindu traditional culture seem to hinder women's access to education. Women's education freedom and equality have been facing various ups and downs that are manifested in the form religious beliefs and cultural practice in Nepalese society. Although, Women are important agents of change and can be powerful leader in family and society, their education becomes minimized because of men are better economic investment permeates in society. The constitution offers equal educational opportunities for men and women, but some religious and cultural factors hinders women's access to education in rural area in Nepal. Moreover, Women in Nepalese context comparatively low social status has hindered their education. Even though, female literacy rate has improved conspicuously over the years, in the early 1990s Nepalese female literacy rate fell far short of its male literacy rate, but the religious and cultural factors contributed to lower enrollment and higher dropout rates among the Nepalese women.

Moreover, Nepalese women's educational status is lower than men's education in rural areas. However lower educational status has many negative consequences in Nepalese women's lives. It is not limited women's skills and capacities, but also individual health, family health, legal and constitutional rights, their utilization and their actives participation in community maters. Bhushal (2008) says that Nepalese society still being run by a patriarchal feudal system and traditional cultural beliefs and practices in which women in comparison to men are considered to have lower status. The activities of discrimination, exploitation and domination still prevail. Superstition and other related problems have been deep- rooted in Nepalese society due to the lack of education and awareness among the people (ibid). To raise the status of women, education is critical to the process. In addition, for the overall development of the personality, society, and the nation women need to participate in education and public affairs.

Chapter 3: Methodological Considerations

Methodology is essential in the processes of producing and analyzing empirical data. The empirical data presented in this thesis is based on the interviews. I carried out in rural area in Nepal. In this chapter, I will introduce the methodological choices I made during the research process. First, I will present research design, which includes discussions of validity and reliability, the role of researcher, and qualitative and quantitative methods. Thereafter, I will focus on the methods used for producing data collection tools and techniques, mainly the selection of participations, 'situating' myself as a researcher, interviews, use of tape recorder, and transcriptions of interviews. I also present the overview of participants. I continue by describing choice of qualitative method and discuss why this method was the best for my research. The last section of the chapter, I describe the data analysis method and discuss ethical considerations that arose during the interviews.

3.1 Research Design

3.1.1 Validity and Reliability

In research, Validity and reliability are very important concepts for the evaluation of the research project's objects and situation from qualitative and quantitative perspectives. The concepts of validity and reliability are mostly associated with quantitative research, but these principles should also be reflected upon in qualitative research (Silverman,2001). These concepts are essential to consider when carrying out qualitative research since they help to determine the objectivity of the findings. Validity and reliability illustrate the level of trustworthiness and credibility of research. Validity is in many ways the most important criterion. Validity can be defined as "whether you are observing, identifying or measuring what you say you are" (Bryman, 2008). Validity is concerned with integrity of the conclusions that are generated from a piece of research.

Reliability concerns whether the same observations would be identified if another type of method were applied or if the investigation were carried out at a different time or by another researcher (Kirk and Miller,1986). Moreover, (Bryman, 2008) explains that validity and reliability are separated into internal and external concepts. Internal reliability refers to whether there is more than one researcher within the study group so that observers can agree about to what see and hear. External reliability means to what extent a research can completed again with results comparable to the original study. It might be difficult to achieve high

external reliability since the scene and the setting is likely to change from the time of the original research to the time of a second one.

Kvale and Mason (1996; 2002) suggest that the researcher is the primary instrument while collecting and analyzing the data. The reliability and the validity of the study therefore depend upon the quality of the researcher's work. An important aspect in qualitative method is that the data must be produced through the relationship between the researcher and informants. Therefore, it is impossible to reproduce the interview with another researcher. That is why different researchers often get different experiences from the same informant. It is because there are different ways to present the same event and experiences.

Furthermore, by posing different types of questions about the same topic, various kind of information about the research topic can be revealed (Kirk and Miller,1986). Through the face to face interviews I had the opportunity to adjust questions and pose them in another way if I suspected that the informants did not understand the question in the way that I had intended. Even though the researcher may never fully understand the perceptions of informants and the cultural meaning inherent in information, fieldwork allows the researcher to constantly test his/her developed hypothesis in relation to different informants, at different times and in different settings (ibid).

In this study, I have designed a qualitative study to understand some cultural barriers women's access to education in rural area in Nepal. I strongly hope that my study has resulted in valid and reliable findings, because the research territory is my own context where I spent many years and got many experiences. I was very careful in constructing research instruments, for instance: interview guide, to be sure that the instrument measured what was supposed to measured when applying qualitative standardized open-ended in-depth interviews of women in rural area who could be authentic source of valid and reliable data for this study.

3.1.2 Role of Researcher

In research process, the researcher plays an important role in many ways, whether he/she uses the quantitative or qualitative method. Since researchers are the primary instruments in interpretive studies, the role of researcher is crucial for research design; data collection, data analysis and interpretation; and reporting processes to make outcome of the study trustworthy

(Borland,2001). The factors influencing the role of researcher include his/her background and personal qualities; degree of neutrality and involvement; and relationships with the informants.

Moreover, having background knowledge in the field of research is an additional benefit for a researcher. It helps him/her to find out the most suitable participants. Personal experience also means less time might be required or setting of the study. The researcher should have an open and enquiring mind, be a good listener, flexible and adaptive, and devoid of bias (Robson,2002). The researcher ought to be proficient in grasping the issues and interpreting them during the study so that any evidence, clues, etc. are not missed or misinterpreted later. A researcher must be open to contrary findings in order to avoid bias. The researcher must acquire good communication skills and thus present oneself as a reasonable, courteous and unthreatening human being by cordially interacting with the subjects and showing interest in what people do and say, while tolerating long periods of boredom (Randall, Harper&Rouncefield,2008).

Furthermore, the researcher can be classified as either an insider or an outsider depending upon his/her relationship with the subjects and study (Walsham,1995). The outsider "researchers remain at more physical and emotional distance from the subjects and thus the subjects feel free to express themselves as the trust builds up and there is less chance of going negative" (Randall, et., al,2008). This is the advantage of being an outsider since the researcher has no direct personal stake in various interpretations and outcomes of the study (Walsham,1995). Apart from this, the disadvantage of being outsider is that the researcher's presence at each site or every occasion as well as access to information that is confidential or sensitive is not always possible and thus it is difficult to grasp and understand the direct sense of the field work from the inside in such cases(ibid).

The choice of role for the researcher should depend upon the advantages and limitations for his/her specific role in the study, but the best researcher is one who is an outsider with considerable inside experience (Forsythe,1999). This is because in the interpretive study the researcher must perform a difficult task of interpreting participants. And the outsider researcher having inside experience of the field can extract and interpret or evaluate the data

through systematic comparison between inside and outside views of events and processes (Forsythe,1999).

In this research, I positioned myself as an outsider. I always introduced myself as a s student and maintained distance with the informants. I developed good relations with the women of the village. I became a neutral, neither Hindu nor Christian, emphasizing my position as a student doing research for academic purposes. This position had both positive and negative effects during my research period. I thought that it would take time for me to get accepted by people of the village. However, almost from the beginning, I was overwhelmed by the attention and interest of the inhabitants because they knew me very well. As a researcher, I had to be professional and maintain ethical considerations in every situation.

Moreover, I might have missed some confidential information in this case that insider could have collected easily, but the advantage I have experienced was that all informants expressed freely to questionnaires without any hesitation unlike responding to insider (Walsham,1995). There were ensured that their confidentially will be mentioned. This helped me to develop trust relationship with my informants and interact more easily during the interviews.

During the interview, I never interrupted the informants; rather I listened to them in an interested fashion and let them talk. Thus, we started to behave like friends, I always remained unbiased regarding what they said. Most of the times, I maintained eye contact so that they remained positive towards my interest in the information provided by them. I was always punctual for the interview. However, apart from having appointment, I had to wait sometimes for the informants to be free from their household works and agriculture work in the fields. Moreover, to maintain equal status and get access to become familiar with the informants, I knew very well the situation of women and socio- cultural values in the rural village. I chose local Nepalese women to see some cultural barriers women's access to education. It has been very good for me to get information. I used the Nepali language to communicate with women in the village because they didn't speak English.

3.1.3 Qualitative and Quantitative Methods

A research study can be designed in two ways with qualitative or with quantitative methods. Some studies use both basic kinds of methodology, (Robson, 2002) which has been classified

as "flexible" and "fixed" designs respectively. The name "quantitative" method of course refers to quantity or number, and this research method is mostly suitable for determining the size, extent or duration of certain phenomena or find out the pre-specified effect of an intervention cause (Berg, 2003). This method is mostly done in the form of experiments and surveys with close-ended questionnaires and the data so collected are evaluated statistically (Robson, 2002). For conducting this type of research, a well- developed conceptual framework involving "what to look for", "what you are going to do" and "how to do it" is required to find out the feasibility of the method.

Quantitative methods work with statistics and mathematical techniques and is most effective when yielding data on large sample. Quantitative research mostly begins with the selection of a hypothesis that can be proven true or false statistically, and is suitable for the measurement or analysis of causal relationships between variables. The aim of qualitative research methodology is to understand the social reality of individuals, groups and cultures. Researchers use qualitative research methods to explore the behavior, perspectives, feeling and experience of the research subjects. The basis of qualitative research methodology lies in the interpretive approach to social reality and in the description of the lived experience of human beings. Qualitative method procedure implies that the researcher collects data in the "natural setting" of the phenomenon being studied (Creswell, 2009).

The data collection in qualitative methodology has much less pre-specification and the design evolves, develops and unfolds as the research proceeds and thus said to have a flexible design (Robson, 2002). The methods used to collect data in qualitative research include interviews, participant observation and the interpretation of texts/documents. Qualitative method is advantageous for producing data concerning the nature of a phenomenon with a focus of human experiences and meaning (ibid).

Considering qualitative and quantitative methodologies, I prefer to work with qualitative methods because the purpose of this research is to see the social world that is constructed through the interactions of individuals, and the social, cultural, economic and political realities of village life in Nepal. This method is also well suited to understanding some cultural barriers on women's access to education in rural area in Nepal.

3.2 Data Collection Tools and Techniques

Various data collection tools and techniques were used to collect the primary and secondary data for the study. The choice of these tools and techniques was in accordance with those demanded by the research. I take a qualitative approach to this study. Documents are the primary source of data material, while the interviews I have conducted have served the purpose of informing my research at an early stage of the research process. This research has been conducted in rural village in Nepal, where the empirical data that forms the basis of this study was collected in November 2015 from local Nepalese women. In the following section, I discuss some methodological reflections around the selection and use of sources.

3.2.1 Selecting the Participants

Choosing appropriate participants is an important part of the research process. Therefore, during the fieldwork, I was careful with my selection. Since my research aimed at understanding some cultural barriers women's access to education in rural area, I chose illiterate participants who did not get the opportunity to go to school because of traditional cultural beliefs and practices in their society. In other words, the women's experiences ensured that the data gathered is rich and thoughtful. In addition, I selected participants who were very active and eloquent so they shared their thoughts and experiences without hesitation. Even though I chose illiterate participants in my research they were very open and friendly. My experience was that those interviewed to be very open and honest.

One day, I encountered participants at the public place to inform them about my work and find an appropriate time for interviews. In addition, I told them I was working on an education project concerning women in the village who did not get change to go to school because of existing cultural barriers influenced them in their own society. Although I encountered my participants at a public place, I conducted interviews individually in their own homes, on the way and in the agriculture fields. I did not have a group interview because the people were very busy harvesting rice, and therefore I could not manage to find an appropriate time. Fortunately, I could have finished my fieldwork at with them one at a time because my participants were very willing to share their thoughts and experiences with me, even though they were busy working in the agriculture fields. So, all our interviews arrangements were made quickly during my first contact with them. It came as a surprise to me that the response to my selection of participants was easier than I had expected.

3.2.2 'Situating', Myself as a Researcher

Access to people in rural village was not easy for me, especially in a situation where there were many illiterate people and local traditional cultural beliefs and practices. As Silverman (2006) said, every researcher faces some challenges during the fieldwork and no guidelines exist that can predict every possible event in the field. Most of the people were curious about me and what I was going to do. Upon my visit with women in the village, many assumed that I was working for women in village. At the initial stage of my research, while I was preparing the plan to select the interviewees and my stay in this village, I observed their situation, their interest in education and the cultural and religious obstacles they had encountered.

I prepared the plan to conduct interviews individually in their own homes, on the way and agricultural fields. It was very easy for me to get different views and experiences because of the previous discussion regarding the topic and purpose of my study. During the research, I lived at home with my family in the village. It was very hard time for me. I did initially plan to spend the whole time for fieldwork in the village. Unfortunately, I could stick to my plan because of my small baby and being busy with house- work. I was working hard at home as a housewife, and sometimes I was working out in the agriculture: harvesting rice, carrying Buffalo manure and digging fields. I was pursuing my research despite various obstacles at home. However, it was not easy to arrange an appropriate time for all informants and myself because all my interviewees were very busy harvesting rice and millet in the fields. That is why I interviewed four women in their own homes, two women on the way and three women in the agriculture fields. I spent 25 days in the village doing my research.

3.2.3 Interviews

In this research project, the data were performed by interviews. Interviews can be conducted via either structured, semi-structured or unstructured questionnaires (Robson,2002) depending upon the need and subject matter under study. I followed semi- structure interviews with open- end questionnaires. The respondents were allowed to talk freely and express their own views in order to obtain rich interpretation and maintain balance between excessive passivity and over direction (Walsham, 1995). The purpose of choosing semi- structure interviews with open-ended questionnaires as the data collection tool was to be flexible enough during the interviews and provide opportunities to discuss on other related topics. This interview method

also allows the informants to elaborate their views, experiences and interpret in their own way (Robson, 2002).

The interviews were conducted in a rural village of Nepal during November of 2015. I conducted semi- structure interviews using open-ended questionnaires. The chosen research method for this study is semi- structured interviews and before the interviews were carried out an interview guide with some clear questions was prepared. So, that I would have an idea what kind of questions I should ask during the interviews. However, even though I had a pre-designed interview guide, I was not limited by it (Bryman, 2008), whenever the interviewees talked about something that I wanted to know more about or they started talking about issues I had not been considering in my interview guide. Due to the flexibility of the interviews and designing the questions in a more open way I could be happy that the interviewee's own views became apparent in the interviews (Bryman, 2008).

After all, I decided that interviews would be the most appropriate procedure for my study to discover information from the different respondents. This research method involves gathering of data through direct verbal conversation between individual. The nine participants included in this study were local Nepalese women from rural village of Nepal. The participants ranged in age from 30 to 55. All participants were illiterate, and they couldn't read and write. I conducted interviews with nine informants in their own homes, on the ways and some in the agriculture fields. As a Silverman (2006:20) argues "open- end" questions are the most effective methods to fulfill the aim of qualitative research and to gather an "authentic" understanding of people experiences. Being aware of this, I conducted semi- structured interviews using open- ended questions to encourage my informants to share their experiences and feeling with as little imposition as possible.

The interview would start according to the same pattern: First, I would say a traditional Nepalese greeting, introduce myself, tell my name, and where I am coming from, described what I study, what I am writing about, what I am interested in this field. Interviews were conducted in accordance with a plan. Thus, before data collection I prepared a detailed interview guide that included list of questions presented in logical sequence and in a certain order. For different informants, I created list of same questions and some different questions for my lower caste informants. All interviews were conducted individually and were different

duration, from 1 hour to 2.5 hours with local Nepalese women in Village. At the introduction stage, I explained to the respondents the purpose and objectives of the interviews. I assured respondents about the confidentiality of their answers, saying them, I would not mention their names or any other personal information. Moreover, With the permission of the participants and in order to not lose out on any information, I chose to use a recorder during all my interviews. I managed to record all the interviews with the help of tape recorder.

Even though recording brings about issues about how comfortable the interviewee is in the situation and how much the person wants to talk about personal issues when the recorder on, I decided to take that risk, because by recording the interviews, I was later able to re-listen to the interviews and observe what the interviewees talk about and how they talk about a certain topic (Bryman, 2008), which again is beneficial for the analysis when the data can be scrutinized repeatedly. Besides, I was making short notes about details in my diary. During interview, some participants were outspoken and some were of shy nature. Mostly, women were didn't hesitate to express their views and experiences. But some of the women did not speak more than necessary.

Moreover, during the interviews, I used camera as well. I asked my participants whether I could take a photo of them which they allowed me to do. I spent more than hour doing each interview and got the information I needed. Sometimes I talked to them several times, especially when some aspects of the conversation were very interesting. All interviews were performed in Nepali Language. They could not speak English language due to the lack of education. To have everything transcribed was very useful in the aftermath of the interviews. I was careful with the transcriptions and translations and used both English and Nepali dictionaries as I needed to be as accurate as possible. Those transcriptions were carefully read several times. I began the interviews by asking general questions. Initially, I started to ask them their name, age, occupation, family backgrounds, and their home situations.

Thereafter, I tried to ask my questions by phrasing them differently on different occasions, depending on the level of interesting and understanding shown by the respondents. With each answer, I attempted to probe more deeply and lead the women to tell me about the things that were most important for me. Interviews were carried out in various locations: homes, in the

agriculture fields or on the way to their work. During the interviews, I took pictures of my participants, some of which are included in the thesis.



Fig 1: This woman is cooking rice and meat.

Fig 2: This woman is carrying the paddy.





Fig 3: These women are harvesting millet in the field.

Fig 4: This woman is cutting grass.

3.2.4 Use of Tape Recorder

All interviews were recorded with the consent of the interviews, because "compared to short notes, recording and transcripts can offer a highly reliable record to which researchers can return as they develop new hypothesizes" (Silverman,2006). All my participants were agreed to record their sounds, it was good for coding and analyzing. The audiotape was used for recording data while carrying out the interviews, which was coupled with note-taking, in case audio-taping failed to record the information (Creswell,2013). I took short notes including date, time, and short background description of interview- participants.

All the interviews were tape- recorded and I coded all answers. I found great similarity in the answers. In this regard, I thought that all participants had the same problems in accessing education in rural areas. The participants were informed about the tape recording of the conversation. All participants verbalized their understanding of the tape- recorder and agreed to its use. Some participants were very interested in listening to their recorded voices. They were informed that interviews would be deleted from the recorder after the completion of the study, and it will not be shared with anyone. The recorded interviews were copied in my computer when I arrived in Norway.

3.2.5 Transcription of the Interviews

Wengraf (2001) described that transcribing is the first task in the analysis and interpretation of the interviews materials. He further argued that although transcribing can be boring and time consuming, it is "a crucial step in interviewing" All the interviews were tape- recorded and verbatim transcribed by me. It took me several days to transcribe interviews. Tape- recorded sound quality was not very good and I had to listen again and again. The recorded verbatim allowed me to listen to interviews repeatedly and help me to ensure that transcriptions were done currently (Patton, 2002).

While listening to the tape- recorder and typing whenever I found new and interesting that I needed more clarification. I asked to my husband to be more clarification. It was very difficult to asked again to my informants because they were very away. They did not use internet, and even they didn't have mobile phone. I did the transcription after a month when I get back to Norway. This helped me to gain a deeper understanding of the information and gave me the opportunity to reflect on my research work.

3.3 Overview of participants

In total, nine women took part in this study. As I already mentioned, the participants ranged in age from 30 to 55. All interviews were conducted in November 2015. All interviews were conducted individually and were of different duration, from 1 hour to 2.5 hours with local Nepalese women in a rural village. The following section provides background information on each of the participants, from oldest to youngest, high caste and low caste, education etc.

Interviewee A: She is 54 years old, illiterate high caste women. She did not get an education opportunity. Her father was very conservative regarding the education of his daughter. She cannot read and write. Her father forced her to get married at an early age. After getting married she tried to join a literacy program, but it was not possible due to her daily house work and the responsibility of children and family. She has three daughters. Her husband and others family members wanted her to have a son. She had one son after pressure by members of the family. She worked in the fields and in the home. She regretted the lack of education in her life due to her poor circumstances.

Interviewee B: She is 32 years old, lower caste woman (so called untouchable). She was suffering from poverty. Her father was working hard with high caste family. It was very difficult to afford basic needs for children. Father forced her to work with high caste people to support the family. Her parents did not have much land nor any income. When she was 15 years old her parents arranged her a marriage for her. After getting married, it was not possible to get any education. She is still working with high caste people to survive. Her husband was illiterate, and everyday drank a lot. She is facing many social problems at home and in society

Interviewee C: She is 50 years old, Brahmin woman (so called upper class). She got married at an early age because of the Hindu traditional cultural belief in priest family. Her father was willing to get marry her before first time menstruation. She did not want to go against her parent's wishes as they were both illiterate and innocent, but she was always against traditional cultural beliefs of high caste families. Fortunately, after getting married, she got chance to join the literacy program. Now she can write a little. She has four children, two sons and two daughters. Even though she did not have a formal education, she

encouraged her children to pursue education. That is why her children are living in the city so that they can get educated and, hopefully, good jobs. She is living in the village with her husband and works in the fields. I felt very happy to talk with her because she had good understanding about education and traditional culture.

Interviewee D: She is 43 years old, lower caste woman. Her parents were very poor. Even they didn't have enough food to eat morning and evening. They devoted their whole life working with high caste family. Her father didn't give her the opportunity to go to school. Since early age, parents forced her to stay at home and take care of siblings. She got married at the age of 14. She has four daughters. Her husband has another wife. She lives with her daughters in another house. Her husband lives with his young wife and one son. Every day she worked hard with high caste people in order to survive. She said that she had a very difficult family life because of her lack of education.

Interviewee E: She is 46 years old Chhetri woman of middle caste. She had little educational opportunity. She cannot read and write. Her parents had a very negative attitude towards education. The parents forced her to get married at a very early age. She has four children, three daughters and one son. Her husband is a secondary teacher in a state school. Even though her husband is a secondary teacher he never encouraged his wife to join the literacy program in the village. She works hard work at home and in the fields. She tends to a lot of cattle at home. Every morning she must go to the forest to cut grass for the cattle. She also takes care of her husband and four children and other relatives. She is quite worried and not satisfied with her life because of her lack of education.

Interviewee F: She is 35 years old, middle caste women (so called Chhetri)). She was born into a poor and traditional family. She had many brothers and sisters, her parents did not have money to invest in the children's education. Her parents decided to get married at an early age and she went to live in her husband's house. After getting married she did not get opportunity to go to school. Her husband worked in construction in the village. She is working on the farm, taking care children and doing the daily house work.

Interviewee G: She is 38 years old, high caste woman. She did not get a chance to go to school because of the early marriage. She was not happy with married life because her parents

always created problems in her life. She did not get enough food to eat. She spent her life as a servant. She has three children and lived with her family for more than twelve years. Now she lives in a separate house from her parents in- law. She faces many problems in her life because of the traditional culture and due to the lack of education

Interviewee H: She is a 49 years old high caste woman. Her father was very conservative towards his daughter's education. Since early age her father forced her to do household work instead of going to school. From an early age, she was working hard at home. She was the eldest daughter in her family and had many responsibilities in the home. She cared for her youngest siblings in the home. Her father forced her to get married at an early age because of the values of being a high caste family and cultural considerations. She has five children, works on the farm and in the home.

Interviewee I: She is 41 years old Tamang woman (from an ethnic group). She has also same problem as others, but is quite clever. Her traditional culture was different than other caste culture. Although she did not have any education she has taken responsibility for the household life. Her husband is a farmer. She was interested to join literacy program near the village but her husband did not give her that opportunity. She is taking care of the children and the daily house work. She is not happy with her life because of the hard housework and her lack of education.

3.4 Choice of Qualitative Research

For this dissertation used qualitative research methods as I believed would be more appropriate to the study and help me gather data that will be important to analyze the situation. My research was aimed at gathering qualitative information by focusing on local Nepalese women in the rural part of Nepal. It involved ethnographic methodology-interviewing.

According to the Denzin and Lincoln qualitative research is "born out of concern to understand the other" (Denzin and Lincoln 2003). It has suited me perfectly, as I went to the chosen place for in-depth study and understood the customs, habits, living situations, culture and society. I decided that interviews would be the most appropriate procedure for my study to get information from the different people. This research method "involves gathering data

through direct verbal conversation between individuals" (Manion L. &Morrison K. 2000). Qualitative method is powerful method because of its ability to explore the people's real world directly in their own context. It studies the human behavior, attitudes and experiences times and describes how people organize their world and gives meaning to their lives. Through an interview, the interviewer can get closer to interviewee and collect the empirical data in detail.

In this paper, I wanted to explore "In what ways might cultural barriers influence Nepalese women's access to education in rural areas?" To answer this question, I needed exactly the narrations with associated meaning, people's behavior, attitudes, belief and values through direct conversation. That is why I have chosen a qualitative approach in my study. The approaches for data collection were one —one interview through women in a rural village. The interviews were conducted with open-ended questionnaires. This type of study is well suited to qualitative research design because it was the appropriate tool to collect the necessary information from women in the village.

3.5 Data Analysis Method

Data analysis method, as the core of a research gives an overview of the study, analysis and interpretation of findings. Thus, it is a process of bringing order, structure and interpretation to the mass of collected data (Marshall and Rossman,1999), where it finds the meaning in data that gives an answer to the research questions in qualitative design (Merriam,2009). In other words, data analysis involves the process of organizing what have been directly seen, heard and read. That is why researcher can make sense of what had been learned. As mentioned, data analysis method in qualitative research is a search for patterns and relationship in data through constant comparing between individuals, stories, experiences and feeling attached to their experiences.

I used interviews as a main data collection method. These interviews were guided by the questionnaires. The data materials include primary and secondary literature books, articles, newspaper, internet, and so on. I conducted interviews beginning of November 2015 with nine women in a rural village of Nepal. During the interviews, I was given attention to each of the experiences that women expressed in our conversations and interactions. All interviews were recorded with the permission of participants and written in the short notes. Transcribing

the interviews while still in the field created the opportunity to understand more about the participants and their traditional culture.

It was not greatly complex for me to accumulate in the society since I was also one of the members of this society. Being part of the society and culture, I was recognizable with its members, culture, social tradition and practices. One challenge I have faced in the collection of data has been that all participants were not able to speak English. Since, I do not write my thesis in Nepali language, I spent long time to translate Nepali into English. During the research, I was putting them into codes after finishing each interview. With the interview technique, I developed some important points and some long paragraph during my interviews after reading many times, and analyzed myself about important aspects I had written. These interpretations are presented according to the themes and used in the analysis of findings and discussions based on the theory.

3.6 Ethical Consideration

Ethical considerations are an important part of the research process, and especially when it comes to the "lack of informed consent" (Bryman: 2008). Especially, in the qualitative research, the researcher should face the ethical challenges. The researcher must exemplify the following conditions during the data collection: respect for persons, maximization of possible benefits and minimization possible harms, and protection of justice regarding who benefits from the research (Hemming, 2009). As my research was understanding some cultural barriers to women's access to education in rural area in Nepal, and since the interviews involved personal interaction, the ethical issues of informed consent and confidentiality had to be very carefully consider.

3.6.1 Informed consent

The ethical principle shows that the researcher's respect for participants is asking for their permission before the research can be started. The participations are normally informed of the purpose of the research, its procedures, risks, benefits, confidentiality and the right to withdraw (Burns, 2000: Johnson and Christensen, 2008). After reaching the research field, the researcher interduce herself to the participants informing them about purpose of the study. As this study sought views and experiences from interviewees, the researcher informed the respondents that they were free to decide to participate or not. As women were my primary

research participants, I took consideration of their views, experiences and interest to include them in my study. As researcher, I listened to women as competent participants, which involves respecting their informed consent to participate as well as their right to decline involvement or withdraw from research.

I am very grateful that my informants were willing to share their thoughts and experiences with me because without their cooperation I could not have written this thesis. Although, they were busy harvesting rice and millet in the fields they managed make time for my research. When I was starting my interviews, I told my participants that all data about them would be confidential. I explained to them, what I was investigating and explained the purpose of my study. During the interview, I encouraged my participants to share their views and experiences confidently and without any hesitation. I asked their husbands at home if I was allowed to interview to their wives. I was never refused a conversation but always checked in advance as part of ethical considerations, especially because in our society women are not competent to make decisions by themselves (Silverman, 2005).

3.6.2 Confidentiality

Another important ethical issue is confidentiality, meaning that identity of the participants and the information they provide is no way disclosed unless the participants give their permission. This is significant because there are circumstances where data are publicized without participants' permission and this may cause them harm. On the other hand, the matter of confidentiality and maintaining privacy of all participants is high recommended to develop a mutual understanding through trust as well as to preserve the ethical standards in a flawless research (Baez,2002). The confidentiality and privacy of data generated after interviews were kept in my personal computer with a secure password. The access of data; tape-recorded was shared only to the individuals involved in research. I always asked permission to recorded the interviews. Moreover, I assured my participants that all recorded data were going to be deflected after submission of my thesis. Reflecting on the interviews, I feel confident that I was not abusing my informants by making them talk to me.

The short notes were only accessible to me. Anonymity was maintained on the transcripts of data. All data were kept without mentioning the name or any recognizable factors of the participants. It was highly essential to maintain privacy of collected because most of the

people in the rural village who know each other. Confidentiality is essential in research on sensitive topic because the potential of harm to participants who will refuse to cooperate if confidentiality is not clearly guaranteed (Cohen et al., 2007). Privacy is a human right that must be protected, and guaranteeing a participant's confidentiality avoids violating their privacy (Johnson & Christensen, 2008). The study was about some cultural barriers influence women's access to education in rural area in Nepal, which is also being a sensitive topic, confidentiality was highly required. Interviews was conducted in a designated place where privacy was heightened.

The participants were also informed and request to maintain confidentiality of the matters. To ensure the participants' confidentiality, I did not tell anyone who was involved in my research. Their names were not mentioned. The findings were discussed and presented in such a way that their identities could not be deduced. Furthermore, the participants were informed about the anonymity of the data collected before initiating each interview. All the data generated during the study will be destructed after the completion of thesis.

During the interviews, I took some pictures with the permission of my interviewees. They agreed to allow their pictures to be used in my thesis. Some of them were so interested to see their picture in my thesis paper that I promised them that I will show them their pictures after submission of my thesis. In addition, I also encouraged my participants to express their thoughts and experiences in their own words, in-depth interviews reveal the interactions that form part of these women's education and their situation in the rural village. Reflecting on the interviews, I feel very happy with the way I conducted my interviews, winning in the process the confidence of the participants.

Chapter 4: Theoretical Considerations

This chapter presents theoretical concepts related to the research question and objectives of the study. First and foremost, I will start with the conceptual framework whilst focusing on traditional culture. Thereafter, I will discuss the Caste System, Household Works, Son Preference and Early Marriage. The last section of the chapter, I will present the empowerment theory focusing on women empowerment will be given.

4.1The concept culture

Culture is a widely-discussed topic within social theory, and the concept is an important contributing when studying social behavior (.....). The Theorist, Raymond Williams (1976), described 'culture' as one of the most complex words in the English language. Raymond Williams also argues that culture is one of the most difficult concepts to define. He linked cultural activities and interests of the masses, particularly with the working- class to rural communities, and he declared that "Culture is ordinary: that is the first fact. Every human society has its own shape, its own purpose, its own meaning. Every society expresses these, in societies, and in arts and learning" (William, 1958:4). He described that Culture as meaning "a whole way of life- the common meaning", and the arts and learning the special process of discovery and creative effort (ibid:8).

Castro-Gomez,2001) address that in the nineteenth centuries, the concept of culture was defined in opposition to nature as a range of social, political, ethical, religious, philosophical and technical values. (....). The recent cultural theorist Hannerz (1990:237) says that the world of culture created through the increasing interconnectedness of varied local cultures [......] as well as through the development of cultures without a clear anchorage in any one territory. Moreover, Culture can be defined as a pattern of basic assumption- invented, discovered and developed by a given group as it learns to cope with its problems of external adaptation and internal integration- that has worked well enough to be considered and, therefore, to be taught to new people as the proper way to perceive, think and feel in relation to those problems (Schien 1985).

On the other hand, the theorist Hofstede (1997) described Culture is the collective programming of mind which distinguished the members of one group or category of the people from another. This mental programming starts within the family, society and continues

within the neighborhood and workplace through their life time which contributes to the overall socialization process of the people (Hofstede, 1997).

Furthermore, Culture is the basic [....] assumptions and beliefs that are shared by the people in society. These assumptions and beliefs are learned response to groups of problem of survival on its external environment and problem of internal integration. Culture can be defined as a pattern of basic assumption- invented, discovered and developed by a given group as it learns to cope with its problems of external adaptation and internal integration-that has worked well enough to be considered and, therefore, to be taught to new people as the proper way to perceive, think and feel in relation to those problem (Schien 1985). Hofstede (1997) described Culture is the collective programming of mind which distinguished the members of one group or category of the people from another. This mental programming starts within the family, society, continue within the neighborhood and workplace thought their life time which contributes to the overall socialization process of the people.

Moreover, in the nineteenth centuries, the concept of culture was defined in opposition to nature as a range of social, political, ethical, religious, philosophical and technical values. The political thinkers and philosophers considered cultural forms that were close to nature is as superior to popular to culture. The Western, predominantly Christian culture is considered superior to those of tribal peoples who lived closer to nature and often practiced naturalistic rites. It was also believed that the nation state was the best carrier of the culture or national spirit of the people(Castro-Gomez,2001). The recent cultural theorist Hannerz (1990:237) says that: the word of culture created through the increasing interconnectedness of varied local cultures, as well as through the development of cultures without a clear anchorage in any one territory. These are all becoming sub-cultures, as it were, within the wider whole.

Traditional culture is commonly used word to indicate our beliefs or customs that are derived from the ancient time. Traditional culture includes number of interrelated ideas such as traditional knowledge, traditional life style, and traditional business which are widely used in everyday life. It is a set of beliefs that is transmitted from one generation to the next during time in all family and society. Barfield (1997:140) says, the concept of tradition can be defined as "a category that individuals and societies ascribe expressions, beliefs and behaviors in the present to add value for the future". Similarly, traditional cultural knowledge comes out

from the local people which encompasses values, beliefs, and cultures and is the result of the direct interface of nature (Agrawal, 1995).

In this research project, the concepts of culture and women's education within it as example of invented traditional culture. Furthermore, the roles of women within this traditional culture are house work, childbearing, care for husband and family instead to go school and outside works.

4.2 Caste System

"Caste is ranked endogamous divisions of society in which membership is permanent and hereditary" (Berremen, 1972:198). Caste system directs Hindu society in four different hierarchical categories: (I) (Brahman (Priests and Scholars) (ii) Kshatriya or Chhetri (rulers and warriors) (iii) Vaisya (merchants and traders) (iv) Sudra (untouchables) farmers, artisans and laborer (Indian Institute of Dalit Studies,2008). On the other hand, Beteille (1965) says Caste 'as a small and named group of persons characterized by hereditary membership, and specific style of life which sometimes includes the pursuit by tradition of a particular occupation and usually associated with a distinct ritual status in a hierarchical system' (Beteille, 1965). Similarly, Berreman (1967) argues that the caste system as a 'system of birth-ascribed stratification, of socio-culture pluralism, and of hierarchical interaction' (Berreman,1967). In addition, (Ghurye, 1964) adds that the fundamental concepts in the caste system are commonly associated with traditional occupations.

As argued by Upreti (B.C.2007), the caste system in Nepal was conceived and nurtured by religious and cultural values. The blending of cultural values and religious beliefs produced a class hierarchy, and in most cases a class system is blended with the caste hierarchy. Those that fall at the bottom of the hierarchy are scattered all over the country. The lowest caste is composed of the poor, illiterate people who performs menial jobs for a living. The people in the lowest caste also have marginal living conditions, and face social abuses (Upreti, B.C.2007). Upreti further argues that the lower caste people, particularly women are discriminated against in society. According to Upreti, in the Nepalese society the women fall into the lowest category in the lowest caste hierarchy and are treated in society as untouchables. They are not allowed to enter religious places and perform 'puja' (worship).

The women in the lowest caste perform menial jobs that are prohibited for the upper caste people. These women in the lowest caste live in the fringe areas of the urban localities with no facilities (Upreti, B.C.2007) that make life worth living. The caste system is closely associated Hinduism in South Asia and is considered the oldest surviving social hierarchy in the world (Pyakurel,2007). However, it is mostly dominant in India and Nepal where, it is considered one of the rigid stratification systems without any possibility to change one's caste move between casts categories. Caste of person is determined by his/her birth into a particular social group. (ibid). Likewise, the caste system is an inseparable aspect of Hindu society and keeps close nexus with the Hindu philosophy, religious beliefs, custom and tradition connecting with marriage system, moral and manner, food, dress, habit, occupation, hobbies and professional skills etc. (Pyakurel,2007; Ghurye, 1964).

Nepalese caste- based hierarchy affects the people especially those in the lowest caste by constraining them to accept lower positions and conditions of work. The work that is left for the people in the lowest caste is riddled with oppression and exploitation. The high caste people do not hesitate to beat and scold the lower caste people in public places if they are found to break Hindu norms and values (Dalit Welfare Organization, 2010).

In addition, caste system gives more prestige, more privilege, and higher status to the higher caste people and lower status to the lower caste people in Nepalese society. Society is divided based on different occupations. Most of the artisan works and services are given to the lower caste people and priesthood and other ruling authority are taken by higher caste people. So, higher caste people, especially Brahman, are most powerful in the Nepalese society. It is because, all Asian cultural treated power as some form of ritual; that is, they develop early the idea that the correct performance of ritual produced the highest type of power (Pye,1985:39), and Brahman (priest caste) are responsible to perform social rituals in Nepalese society. As a result, lower people always dominated and depend on the blessing of the higher caste people since social and legal rules are made by the higher caste people. Lower caste people are pushed backward in every aspect.

In this study, caste based discrimination inequality cause for lower caste people in rural area. which does not consider women belonging to the lower caste competent to receive education. The people belonging to the high castes always neglect them in the public sectors and

discourage them from attempting to get job opportunities based on their qualifications. Moreover, thoroughly formed by their society, many lower-caste women do not want to access to education because they feel learning is not proper for their caste.

4.3 Household work

Women play an important role in every aspect of family life before and after getting married. Their first responsibilities are meeting the household works: child care, cooking, feeding, fetching water, washing clothes, cleaning the house, cutting grass for cattle, working at agriculture fields and collecting firewood from jungle (jungle (Barrett&Brown,1993; world Bank,1995; Waring 1996). Similarly, Yamanaka and Ashworth (2002) in their research found that girls are supposed to work two times more than boys in a day. According Yamanaka and Ashworth, girls are spent more time in domestic activities such as cooking, feeding cleaning the house, and yard, fetching water, washing the clothes, caring of younger siblings, cutting grass and collecting firewood.

According to Brannen (1995) in his research, Asian girls to do more non-routine based tasks and among girls the eldest bears more responsibility and workload. The eldest girl assumes more responsibilities because she has the duty of teaching her younger siblings. Brannen further argues that taking only those who had younger siblings in the family, it is believed to be the girl's duty to babysit. Chatterjee (1989) states that women are expected to take care of the old, sick and disabled family members. Likewise, women's involvement in household work is clearly visible in African countries as well. In this regard, Okojie (1996), reported that in Nigerian rural women spend 35 percent of their time on farm work and 40 percent on household activities. Sama (1994) also adds that women in rural Cameroon are occupied and devoted to household chores.

Compared to men, women spend more time on household works such as cleaning, dishes, children, husband, every day (The World Bank 2001). It can be argued that women in all societies constitute an underprivileged group even though their involvement in household activities is greater than men (Devkota at al.,1999). Likewise, they are heavily involved in multiple tasks throughout their lifetime as producers, reproducers and community workers (Mumtaz&Shaheed,1987; Acharya,1993; Bagchi,1993; Jacobson, 1993; Moser,1993). However, Waring (1996) argued that women's domestic roles and services are not always

recognized as productive work in many societies because the products of their labor are produced and consumed within the same household rather than being sold for cash. For instance, cleaning, decoration and maintenance of home, the servicing and repair of household goods, the preparation and serving of meals to household members, provision of training for, and supervision of their children, and the provision of hospitality to guests are some of the activities, performed by women in household, but not always considered productive (Bagchi 1993; Waring,1996).

Indeed, this uneven division of responsibilities in household- related activities may lead to women exploitation women. The women's responsibilities for childcare, and most of domestic work are typically unpaid. This can also mean that women's work is undervalued (Wimbush,1987). Thus, women's work is much more confined to household activities and unpaid in comparison to the activities of men (Stolen &Vaa,1991). Besides, household responsibilities impact on women's education and social events in rural areas (Bhattarai, 2006). Moreover, culture is a part of human life in the society. In this study, culture says that women are born for household work and taking caring the family members. They must to all the household activities such as: cooking, taking care children, and old, cleaning, fetching water and so on without expecting anything from the family.

Women may have more housework responsibilities than men affecting their education and performance with poor educational outcome (UNESCO,2023). As I have discussed in discussion chapter six, the household works of my research participants were engaged in household work since their early age. Based on the data from interviews, it is evident that women are found to engage more in domestic works: cooking, feeding, fetching water, washing clothes, cleaning the house, cutting grass for cattle and working in agriculture fields instead of schooling.

4.4 Son Preference

Son preference is a widespread cultural phenomenon particularly in developing countries in rural areas, and among more traditional couple of lower socioeconomic status. It has been seen in East Asia, South Asia, Middle East and North Africa (Arnold,1987; Cleland,1983; Williamson, 1976). In Nepalese culture son preference is still practiced. Parents in Nepal have the perception that a son to have successful life before and after death. Because the most

important role of a son is at the time of their parents' death when only sons are allowed to perform the funeral rites (Karki, 1988). Similarly, Hindu religion requires that sons burn parents after death. So, the son is one of the most important feature among the Hindu families (Mandelbaum, 1974).

Likewise, in Indian, sons are valued for their various life functions. Like: higher economic utility of the sons stems from his future income, his future support for his parents in old age and his future assistance in agricultural production (Arnold, Choe &Roy, 1998; Bardha, 1988; Basu 1989; Mamdani 1973; Miller,19819). Higher social utility is awarded by the affinity system as status and strength is given to families with sons and dowry payment are expected for his future marriage (Caldwell, Reddy& Caldwell,1989; Kapadia,1966; Karye,1965). Likewise, higher religious utility is given to sons as religious functions in Hindu culture require their participation in issues deemed important to the religion (Arnold, Choe & Roy,1998). On the other hand, however, daughters are seen to be a liability because of dowry, costs of the wedding, search for marriage partner at an early age, careful supervision due to the importance of chastity and transference of her family membership to her husband's family after marriage (Arnold, Choe & Roy, 1998; Kishor,1995).

Hennink &Simkhada (2000) argue that in Hindu societies, a son holds deeper socio, cultural and economic importance compared to a daughter. Filmer (2005) adds that the phenomena of favoring sons over daughters makes parents to invest more in sons. Investing in son can be considered as a form of insurance or social security where the benefits are reaped when the parents are old. On the other hand, (Karki,1988) argues that that son preference in the Nepalese context is mainly due to socio-cultural reasons rather than economic reasons. He adds that son preference for economic reason is weakening in Nepal.

In Nepalese society, daughters are considered as a financial burden for the family (Gittlesohn et al., 1997). It is believed that the money investment on daughters' education becomes meaningless when they get married. Furthermore, financial burden is associated with marriage system of daughters where the provision of dowry is intensely entrenched provided a dowry (Clark,2000). In this study, sons are supposed to protect the family property, the old age support for parents, the way to preserve the family name and the sole source of producing a

new generation of the family. Furthermore, sons are important because they perform all religious rituals, including the funeral rites to purify the dead bodies of parents.

In Nepalese society, parents place high value on the son than the daughter because the belief that the son will carry the family name unlike a daughter whose surname changes when she gets married. The son also carries prominence because he is the one who will take care of the parents once they become old. Other than taking care of the parents in their old age, the son takes the role of protecting the family's property, performs religious rituals and funeral rights. Compared to the son, daughters are viewed as liabilities due to the dowry paid when they get married. The daughter often does not provide any form of support to parents when they reach old age. Daughters are not even allowed to perform funeral rights.

In this research project, I have applied son preference theory in order to understand the high value of son in Nepalese society and it was influenced on women's access to education in rural area. I understand that the high value of paid to son is mainly deep tooted in socio-cultural, economic and religious practices (Miller, 1981).

4.5 Early marriage

According to UNICEF early marriage is defined as "formal marriage or customary and statutory unions recognized as marriage before the age of 18" (UNICEF 2005). The UNFPA looks at marriages between involving a girl before the age of 18 as "forced" marriage (UNFPA,2012) which is a violation of human rights. Loaiza Sr& Wong,2012) argue that early marriage is a violation of human rights. It hinders the growth of an individual, regarding right to health education and right to choose a partner. Likewise, some scholars and activists argue that instead of looking for universal age which girls and boys should not marry, the focus should be put instead on eliminating the unwanted effects of early marriage (UNIFPA,2006).

Early marriages are common in South Asia and Sub-Sharan Africa, but there are differences in prevalence among countries of the same region (Locoh 2000). This study, has found that religious and cultural beliefs plays a vital role in giving high value to early marriages in Nepal society. The central part of a marriage ceremony is "Kanyadan" which means "the gift of virgin". This is considered as a medium to earn a credit of piety for parents (Maharjan et al, 2012). Thus, many parents prefer to marry off their daughters before the first menstruation

(ibid). On the other hand, poverty is another major factor encouraging early marriages in the Nepalese context. According to Mathur, et al. (2003) parents encourage their daughters to marry from an early age with the hope that once their daughters get married, poverty and economic problems will lessen in the family.

Parents are forced to merry their daughters before they reach the age of 18 to avoid heavy expenses in the marriage (Maharjan et., al. 2012) such as: the giving of gifts to the groom and his family by the bride's parents. It can be argued that the dowry system is deeply rooted in Nepalese society. If daughters can study they have a higher chance getting married to a well-educated boy. Though education of the girl child can be viewed as a bonus, the boy's family can demand more money and gift from the bride's family in form of dowry. This shows that lower dowry costs for girl's families is a common incentive for marrying girls early (UNICEF,2005) in Nepal.

On the other hand, marriage is bounded by social values and norms and is considered as necessary and inevitable in Nepalese society. Due to the high value placed on marriage in Nepal, many parents hold the responsibility of protecting the chastity of daughters till they get married. Parents also choose to marry off their daughters at an early age due to the fear of sexual violence and girl's decision to start sextual relations before marriage (Verma et al, 2013). Nepal is one of the countries with high prevalence of arranged marriage is high in Nepalese society. An arranged marriage is when family members help to select the partner and the bride girls are forced to marry the person whom they have never met and seen (Lamichhane et.al., 2011). Mahargan et al, 2012 however argues that Eloping away for "love marriage" is not acceptable in Nepalese society.

In this research project, many parents preferred to get married their daughters at an early age because of the various reasons in the society. It has found that religious and cultural beliefs play a vital role in giving high value to early marriages. On the other hand, Parents choose to marry their daughters from the fear of sexual violence and daughters' decision to starting sexual activity before marriage. Thus, parents became willing to get married their daughters at an early age.

4.6 Empowerment theory

Empowerment expresses [......] something that individual or groups who are in a powerless situation should acquire strength and power to get out of powerlessness. Through this power mobilization they will able to resist forces that hold them down and get more power and control over their lives. (...). Empowerment expresses therefore both an objective and means to achieve the goal (Asheim and Starrin, 2007).

Kabeer (2001) define empowerment as "the expansion of people's ability to make strategic life choices in a context where this ability was previously denied to them". According to Kabeer (2005:19) consider that empowerment includes a sense of people making decisions on matters which are important in their lives. A crucial part of empowerment includes women being able to carry out the result of the decisions making in their family and society. While women's own struggles for empowerment have tended to collective efforts, empowerment-orientated development interventions often focus more on the individual (ibid).

The term empowerment means to give somebody the power or authority to do something (Oxford Dictionary). Moreover, the World Bank (WB) defines empowerment as the process of enhancing the capacity of individuals or groups to make choices and to transform those choices into desired actions and outcomes (Mason, King 2001). Likewise, another scholar Rowland consider that the empowerment is "of central importance in the slow process of social, political, and economic change that is needed to turn the alternative vision they present in to reality" (Rowland, 1997).

Empowerment is a process, which leads to a state in which women are empowered. That is, empowerment involves an improvement in women's ability to manage their own lives (Duflo,2005, Kabeer,2005). UNDP Human Development Report (2004) empowerment is defined as "women making choices to improve their wellbeing and that of their families and communities- a process, by which define, challenge and overcome berries in their lives and ultimately, change the circumstances that relegate them to subordinates status" (UNDP Human Development Report 2004).

4.6.1 women's empowerment

Duflo (2011) states that empowerment is defined as improving the ability of women to access the constituents of development-particularly health, education, earning opportunities, rights, and political participation (Duflo, 2011). Low personal identity is a barrier to progress while improver women's education/self-esteem help them to raise their voice and participate in social activities. Strong culture pressures on women cause them to devalue themselves, to see themselves as having secondary status, to passive and dependent in their thinking and behavior...... secondary in ability (Sully, Green 2011). Considering this, if society is supportive to women for education rather than caretakers, of the household, women would be more independent.

The improvement of women's education/ knowledge is an important aspect of women empowerment. Education is an instrument which enables women to have access on decision maker, job opportunities, leadership positions at all level of society (Duflo, 2011). In addition, the improvement in education, the outcomes for their children, family and society would be change. Moreover, education has the potentiality to improve "women understanding of how to raise children and manage their family at home. (ibid).

Women empowerment in education is human right that lies at the heart of development of the nation. It is a critical tool for advancing development and reducing traditional beliefs and poverty. It has been argued that man and women produces similar improvements in their socio- economic status. Nevertheless, empowering women through the education produces any additional socio- economic gains that benefit the entire societies. This benefit includes; increased economic productivity, higher family incomes, delayed marriage, reduce the traditional beliefs and caste based discrimination, improve the health (UNFPA,2011).

Participation of women decision making, community meeting, social activities, and public discussion etc.is symbols of empowerment. Women access to education, and development when they are part of those who decide (Duflo, 2011). Women in leadership also call for favorable environments for women participation (ibid). This requires the identification and rectification of power imbalance (UNPA 2013). Women need education to change and improve their lives. Moreover, Hall (1992) states that the approach includes the personal establishment and enhancement of life chances and collective participation in efforts to

achieve equality of opportunity and equity between different gender, caste and social classes enhancing human potentiality at individual and social levels of expression (Hall, 1992).

Nevertheless, in this study, many women are remaining powerless to improve their lives from rural areas because they are burdened by household responsibilities, deprived education of education opportunity and public participation. According to the (Human Development Report, 2009), women gender inequality in Nepal stems from a traditional culture that defines the formal and informal roles for women's participation in relation to opportunities, access to education, resources and decision making. In the Nepalese context, women are marginalized from economic, and social opportunities due to the lack of education and conservative social views. "There is considerable evidence that access to education can bring abrupt changes in cognitive ability, which is essential to women's capacity to question, to reflect on, and to act on the conditions of their lives and to gain access to knowledge, information and new ideas that will help them to do so" (Kabeer 2005:16).

Chapter 5: Finding

This chapter includes the description of views and experiences derived from research participants, as well as the data obtained from semi-structured interviews. I have interviewed nine women from rural area. The quotations are used to present the views and experiences of participants in their own words without any alteration. The author translated all quotations from the Nepali language.

The participants are from different castes, ethnic groups and ages. To more precise and systematic, I tabulate information about the interview participant here:

Table:1

Number of participants	Caste groups		Gender	Age groups		Qualifications
9	High caste	4	Female	30-35	1	
				35-40	2	Illiterates
	Middle caste	2				initerates
				40-45	2	
	Lower caste	2				
				45-50	2	
	Ethnic group	1				
				50-55	2	

5.1 Cultural barriers to women's access to education

The finding of this study reveals that several cultural barriers influence women's access to education in rural area. The views and experiences expressed by each participant are individualistic and unique, but their remarks all relate to a larger cultural context. For that reason, the findings chapter is divided into four sub-sections that investigate the most important factors affecting rural women's educational opportunity: early marriage, household work, caste based gender discrimination, and the high value of a son.

5.1.1 Early marriage

In my analysis of this study, early marriage seems to be problem for women's access to education in rural area. During the interviews, many of my participants said early marriage influenced them to access to education. For example, Informant C, a 50-year-old Brahmin (high caste) woman said:

"My parents preferred to marry me before the first menstruation. They believed that marrying off a daughter before the first menstruation is crucial Dharma².... in Brahmin family tradition. In our culture, it was not good to refuse parents' decision. I got married when I was 12 years old. I did not get opportunity to study". (Informant C).

When Informant C expressed her own feelings about early marriage in her life, it appeared that the cultural beliefs of families belonging particularly to the high caste laid the foundation for early marriage. These beliefs dictated that determined to see their daughter married before her first menstruation. In Nepalese society, parents drink water from their daughter's feet during the wedding ceremony. If they can do this before her first menstruation, they believe it is "Dharma". Religiously speaking, it is a good deed will open the door to heaven for them after death. Thus, many parents in rural area want to hold the marriage of their daughter before her first menstruation. The cultural belief in early marriage influences for women's access to education in rural area.

As another Informant said,

"You know, at that time society was not like it is now. There was no system for study for daughters. If a family chose to let their daughters study, society viewed them negatively. My parents also thought that if they sent me to

_

² The term 'Dharma' means' good deed'

school, I might go to Poila³ and cut their nose⁴ off in society. They forced me to get married at an early age." (Informant E)

In the view of Informant E, at that time, there were no women receiving education. Women's education was impossible due to the socio- cultural attitudes of the society. In this study, the society seemed especially conservative with regard to a daughter's education. Parents thought that if a daughter went to school, society might humiliate them. On the other hand, arranging her early marriage was acceptable for society. If daughter found a man and eloped from home without family support, however, society perceived them all negatively. Her parents seemed more concerned about their prestige because if she eloped, they damage their prestige from the society.

Informant A expressed nearly same views as an informant C, but in a slightly different manner in the following:

> "My parents said that 'giving away a daughter is the parents' ultimate duty. Giving a daughter's Kanyadan⁵ before her first mensuration, while she is still pure, will ensure that the parents go straight to heaven.' I said to my mother, 'I don't want get married. I want to study.' She said: 'A daughter's destiny is to leave her mother's home.... go to her husband's house. Once there, you have to work hard. So, learn house work properly. You can't just dream of going to school. That's over now. If you don't do your duty well, they will blame your mother.......' I did not have any options. I got married when I was 13 years old." (Informant A)

As informant A understood what happened, her parents were more concerned to give their daughter away before her first menstruation in order to go to heaven than they were to give her an education. The mother emphasized her duty to learn housework properly instead of

³ The term 'Poila' means 'to elope and run away'.

⁴ Cut their nose off means to lose their prestige

⁵ 'Kanyadan' is associated with the marriage system: 'The gift of a virgin'

getting an education. Moreover, her mother seemed to worry about her own prestige in the future. In Nepalese society, if daughter could not carry out housework properly, the groom's parents would blame the bride's mother in rude language. Thus, socio-cultural beliefs played a vital role in forming parental attitudes regarding women's place and roles the society.

"My mother used to say a daughter is always the property of another. We shouldn't hold on for too long. If we marry her to a groom early, she respects her in-laws.....honours her elders...learns household work. What use is educating a daughter? It's futile for a daughter to study or try to for a job. Eventually, she has to get married...... and then it's back to housework." (Informant G).

Informant H expressed her experience in following way:

"I haven't been able to study. We had a tradition of marrying at an early age. My parents didn't even introduce the man to me; nor did they check with me. They believed that a daughter is not supposed to refuse the first proposal; otherwise good fortune goes away...... I got married to the first boy who came with proposal." (Informant H)

As an understanding of the participant's point-of- view, being ready to get married with the first man who proposes is according to traditional beliefs in Nepalese society. Popular beliefs dictate that the first marriage proposal decides the fate of girl. Indeed, the traditional beliefs are deeply embedded in the society, and parents do not understand that their daughter's fortune would be better with education than with early marriage.

"Why didn't I get opportunity to study. If you listen to my story from childhood, you may cry here. My parents were very poor. We did not have enough land...... or any source of income. We always had financial problems. I had brothers and sisters. It was very hard for my parents to manage basic needs. They didn't have the where-with-all for..... for my

study. They forced me to get married. I also thought myself that if I got married, it would be a little easier for my parents to afford basic needs. There would be little more food and other necessities... for them. I got married when I was 15 years old." (Informant B)

Another reason for early marriage in rural villages was poverty. As explained by participant B, she decided to get married in early because her parents did not have the economic resources for afford basic needs and other necessities for study.

Informant D said:

"(....) because of my parents' fear of social opposition, I could not study. You know, people used to say educating girls is like hammering nails into your own head. They stopped listing to our parents. Then you might wonder how my parents sent me to school. Imagine how conservative society was at that time!" (Informant D).

You know, in Nepalese culture we must obey whatever is said by the senior person in the family. At my home, my grandmother was the family matriarch. She was too old. My father said, "let's wait until our daughter's a bit older. Currently, why should we rush into marriage?" But my grandmother said, "If I can see her married, my soul will rest in peace." We must keep our traditions. I got married when I was 14 years old." (Informant F)

In understanding of this participant's views and experience, early marriage is still one of the major problems for women's access to education in rural area of Nepal. Further, due to the lack of social awareness many parents are forced to arrange daughters' marriage at early age. On the other hand, to preserve their traditions many older people in the family are willing to get granddaughters married early. Thus, many women in rural area are deprived of education. I will elaborate and more develop this topic with quotations from different informants in the discussion chapter and argument based on the literature.

5.1.2 Household work

A central finding of this study is that the housework was great problem for women's access to education in rural area. Many of my participants verbalized how responsibility for all of housework made it difficult for them to gain access to education. Informant E, a 46-year-old Chhetri (Middle caste) woman, said:

".... My parents had' always expected me to do good housework. I was very interested to study but my parents did not allow me to go to school. I went to school for four days with my brother without permission from my parents. My mother beat me with sticks and firewood. She did not give me food for 4 days. I cried and cried inside the room. Since childhood, I was engaged to catch goats' tails, cut grass for cows, and dig in the fields. They believed that if I knew and could do all this and housework nicely, then I would have a good future." (Informant E)

"I was the eldest daughter in my family. My brothers and sisters were small. My parents asked me to look after the household chores and take care of my little brothers and sisters. They used to work in the fields and collect firewood from the jungle. I was always busy with housework - cooking, cleaning house, taking care of my little brothers and sisters...... After getting married I was also busy doing housework. Being a daughter in-law, I have to perform all the housework. I didn't get an opportunity to study." (Informant I).

The participants expressed how their parents' expectation that daughters would do the housework created a problem for access to education. In my understanding, many parents seemed more positive towards housework than to education in rural area. They did not think education was good future for daughters. Many parents wished to see their daughters become excellent household workers in future. Moreover, in understanding of the participant's views, they could not arrange time to go to school while they were busy with housework and caring for cattle. The daughters often needed to work in the fields and at home for parents.

Moreover, they did not get positive support from parents regarding education. Informant E was even beaten by her mother when she went to school with brother. It should be clear that rural women suffered from having responsibility for the housework in rural area.

"My father was a farmer. He didn't have a job. We had a lot of animals at home - Cows, buffalos, goats, oxen. Every morning I used to go to the jungle with my mother to cut grass. It took many hours to walk home from the jungle with a heavy load. Every day I had the same routine. During the harvesting season, in addition I had to go to work in the neighbour's field. It was easy to share each other's work. My parents didn't think about my education. Also, I didn't force them because nobody used to go to school among the neighbours of my same age." (Informant F)

"In our society, there was no system of study for daughters. Even I didn't even know much about education. Nobody used to go to school. I usually looked after the cattle, goats and cows in the jungle. I also engaged in other housework, such as collecting firewood and grass, cleaning, cooking and bringing water to the house." (Informant A).

"I think you may heard that in our earlier traditional culture, all responsibilities for housework have to be taken by daughters before their marriage. Since an early age, my mother forced me to wake up early in the morning with her. I used to clean the house and prepared breakfast for all family. After finishing all the morning work, I had to go to the jungle with my mother to cut grass. One day, I asked to my parents send me to school, but they said me 'you are a daughter. You don't need education.... you must be perfect in carrying out housework.... that would be best when you get married. In our culture, daughter can't be a doctor, teacher engineer and so on. Why do you need education? You stay at home and learn to do housework properly." (Informant C)

The participant's experiences manifest that the housework is thought to belong to women in Nepalese society. Only the women put great effort into housework in the family. Therefore, they engage with housework - cleaning, feeding, farming, cutting grass, collecting firewood etc. Moreover, many parents encourage them to learn housework properly instead of studying. So, the participants have to master all household responsibilities in order to be a good wife and good daughter-in law in the future. This socio-cultural practice with its prevailing, deeprooted values and beliefs deprives women of access to education in rural area of Nepal.

"My parents were totally dependent on agriculture. We had more Bari⁶ than Khet⁷. We used to grow millet and maize in the Bari. The cultivation of millet and maize requires hard work. It was very difficult to find people to work in our agricultural fields...... If we weren't able to do the work ourselves, we might lack food. We didn't have enough money to buy food from the market. My father ploughed the land and my mother and I did other tasks on same land. My parents frequently asked me, 'if you go to school, who works in the fields......? You don't need education when you go to husband's house. If you learn housework well, then your husband and parents-in-law will be happy.' I had a serious responsibility with housework." (Informant G).

This participant believes the problem for access to education is burdensome housework and lack of money. Moreover, her parents have been more concerned about housework than education.

Another participant expresses her experience as follows:

"You know, it was too hard being married at an early age and being responsible for the housework. In our culture, there was too much pressure on daughters-in law...... Nobody helped me with the household. Sometimes if my husband was ready to help, my parents-in law didn't allow him to help. I had to do everything myself, from cooking to cleaning to

50

⁶ The Nepali word "Bari" means land where Nepalese people grow millet and maize.

⁷ The word "Khet" indicates land where the people grow rice, wheat and mustard.

baking cakes for my husband's family to collecting firewood and cutting grass. How could I manage time to study even if they gave me the opportunity?" (Informant H)

As the participant explains, she felt that the responsibility for all the housework was very difficult to manage by herself in her husband's house. She felt that Nepalese culture especially, with its different expectations of daughters-in law, is responsible for her situation. She was not allowed to argue with her husband although he did not help her with housework. In this study, the caring for the household seems to present common problems for many women regarding access to education in rural area. To more precise, I will analyse quotations from interviews and arguments made by scholars in literature about this research topic in the discussion chapter of this study.

5.1.3 Caste based gender discrimination

The findings of this study revealed that the socio- cultural beliefs of caste-based discrimination created problems for women's access to education in rural area. In the Nepalese context, the caste system divides the population into different groups - the high caste, middle caste and lower caste. In this study, the lower caste people are considered impure and called Dalit or untouchables. During the interviews, some participants said that because they were in the untouchable caste in Nepalese society, they faced problems with access to education. Informant D, 43 a year-old-lower caste woman said:

"You know, in my time, education was not available for Dalit. The teachers did not accept Dalit students. Dalit students could not gain permission to sit beside the high-caste students. Their social superiors did not want to eat and drink together with Dalit students. We could not walk together with high-caste students. If we touched their food inside the lunch bags, they threw that food at us. They humiliated and discriminated against us everywhere in both public and private places. They used to say, 'education is only for high-caste people, not for Dalit.......' We lived in a society that high-caste people dominated in a very extreme fashion. We couldn't survive without

working for them, for high-caste families. My parents forced me to go to work for a high-caste family when I was 9 years old." (Informant D)

According to this participant, Nepalese society does not consider women belonging to the lower caste competent to enter education. The people belonging to the high castes always neglected them in the public sectors and discouraged them from attempting to get job opportunities based on their qualifications. However, thoroughly formed by her society, this woman did not want to access to education because she felt it was not proper for someone of her caste.

I asked her again, what is the situation like now? Did they change? Did you send your daughters to school? She replied,

"The situation is not like it was before. Now education is available for all people. Teachers also seem to accept change in school. But they still don't drink and eat together with Dalit students. My economic condition was extremely poor. My husband and I work hard for high-caste people. We have had great difficulty meeting the basic needs of our children. I forced to my daughters to do work for high-caste people too. We didn't have enough food to eat......I didn't have the resources to buy the necessary things for study, how could I send them to school? Could you imagine....?" (Informant D)

The caste system often excludes Dalit women from education in Nepalese society. Informant B, 32 years old-lower caste woman expressed her experience as follows:

"The high caste-people used to dominate and excluded us from society. My parents suffered from poverty. They had to work for high-caste people every day. If they sometimes came to work late, the high-caste people rebuked to my mother as a Dangrini⁸ and my father as a Dangro⁹. My parents didn't

_

⁸ The Nepali word Dangrini – a demeaning name for a Dalit woman

have land and other another occupation..... I was the eldest daughter in the family. I had small brothers and sisters. My parents used to work all the time for a high-caste family. I used to take care my small brothers and sisters at home. If my parents didn't work for the high-caste family, we had to sleep without food. Between food and books - which one are children expected to choose? How could they send me to school? After all their efforts, they could barely manage to earn enough to feed their children. They forced me to stay at home and take care brothers and sisters. I got married to someone from a family on the same socioeconomic level. My husband doesn't have land and a well-paid occupation. He ploughs the field every day for high-caste people. All the time, I must go to jungle to collect firewood and grass." (Informant B).

This study's findings reveal that lower-caste people, dominated by high-caste families, cannot be independent. In rural areas, their socioeconomic superiors keep them socially and physically suppressed. Landless and completely dependent on the high caste to survive, most Dalits in rural areas are unable to send their children to school because of financial constraints. The participant's experience above offers an example of parents who always worked hard for high-caste people but earned so little that they barely managed to feed their children. They forced their daughter to stay at home because without working for the high caste, they did not have enough to eat. Investing in education was impossible for them.

5.1.4 The high value of a son

Nearly all the participants in this study (all women) felt that the tradition of preference for a son preference tradition has created problems for them with regard to access to education in rural areas. In the understanding of many parents in Nepalese culture, having a son makes a successful life both before and after death. Moreover, the findings of the study reveal that a son is responsible for taking care of his parents and performing the last rites and funeral rituals. On the other hand, by deeply ingrained tradition, a daughter moves into her husband's household after her marriage.

9a similar name for a Dalit man

53

Informant E said:

"I think you should know about our culture. Many parents still expect a son rather than a daughter in our society. My mother gave birth to 10 children. She expected sons, but she continuously gave birth to daughters. After nine daughters, she was finally able to give birth to one son. Unfortunately, he died when he was six months old. My parents were very sad. They always thought about their future without a son. They used to say that daughters are the property of the in-laws' family after they get married. Therefore, it was very difficult for my parents to invest money for a daughter's education." (Informant E).

She also explained the circumstances regarding her daughters' education

"I have four children. My husband is a secondary school teacher. When I had given birth to three daughters, I asked him to prevent any more births. He didn't agree with me. I gave birth to one son after three daughters. My husband got to marry off our three daughters without any education. Our son has completed higher education in the city. Now he has a good job...... but my all daughters are engaged with housework in their husbands' households." (Informant E)

In my understanding of this participant's experience, her parents wanted to have a son in order to have a successful life before and after death. While waiting for a son, they had a large family which created a growing financial burden in the family and difficulties for giving equal education and opportunities to all their children. I think many parents in Nepalese society hope for and await a son in order to keep the family heritage alive and take care them in old age. That is why they invest money in their son's education.

"My parents had a conservative mindset. They thought that son is the preserver of their ancestors and the existence of their life even after their death. They considered a daughter as a future member of another family.

They used to send my brother do school, but, they asked me to go to the jungle to collect grass and firewood......" (Informant A).

As the situation is explained by informant A, she was not able to study because of the cultural beliefs regarding sons and the conservative attitudes of her parents. Her parents were more concerned to ensure their son's education.

"You know, many people think that in our society without a son, parents cannot go to heaven after death. Many parents want to continue having children until they have a son. I had three sisters. I was the eldest daughter. I didn't have brother. My parents were very upset for a few years due to the lack of a son. People in local society used to call them Aputtra¹⁰.Many people hesitated to talk to my parents and didn't want to buy our land......

Being the eldest daughter in my family, I had a huge responsibility for my parents and sisters. My parents didn't want to education for daughters." (Informant G).

Concerning the above, the passage makes clear how a son holds a deeper socio-cultural and religious importance for the family in Nepalese society than does a daughter. If a family has no son, the local community regards them negatively and gives them a pejorative, demeaning name. Being an eldest daughter, Informant G took all responsibility for the family before she married. However, her parents didn't seem interested in having their daughter study.

"In our culture, son performs all religious rituals. Many parents prayed to God and sacrificed goats in the Hindu temple for the birth of a son. If they didn't have a son, society ignore them in cultural activities until they did. After six daughters, my parents gave birth to three sons. I had many sisters and brothers. My parents choose to send their sons to school. Because of the financial burden in the family, my parents preferred that only their sons studied. All we daughters were forced to stay at home and be engaged with domestic work......" (Informant F).

_

¹⁰ The Nepali word "Aputtra" means "sonless parents".

"My brother was two years younger than me. My parents forced him to go to school, but they forced me to help my mother in the kitchen and go to the jungle to look the after goats and oxen. They frequently said to my brother 'our son is our property, our future, care taker, and heritage......' They told me that education was unnecessary for a daughter, who would marry into her husband's household". (Informant I)

According to the participant's views above, the family's daughters received no education because the parents valued sons rather than daughters. They believed that a son has the responsibility for the economic support of parents and families, for preserving the family name and performing religious funeral rites. On the other hand, daughters are ultimately the property of another family, so that education is not necessary to them. For these reasons, many parents in rural areas choose school for sons and domestic works for daughters.

Informant C said:

"My parents frequently said, daughters are 'grass trees' and sons are 'orange trees'. They wanted to send my brother to school but they asked me to work at home and collect grass from the jungle" (Informant C)

The son is very important in Nepalese culture. Many parents in rural areas don't use birth control until they give birth to a son. As informant C recalled, her parents called daughters grass trees and sons orange trees. In her parents' view, the grass tree can grow fast without good care, and it does not bear any fruit. However, people don't use grass much, except to feed the cattle. But the orange tree needs more care and takes time to grow. It bears sweet fruits. Everybody loves to eat such fruit. They thought that daughters grow up fast and soon are ready to go to other people's households. Thus, the parents cannot get help from their daughters. Sons need more care than daughters and take time to grow up but sons preserve the family name, perform all religious rituals and take care of parents at old age. Thus, the participant's parents preferred to send their son to school so that he could earn more for their care. They forced their daughter to work at home.

Informant H said,

"If a woman doesn't bear a son, her husband marries another wife. We keep on trying, no matter how many daughters we have gotten. Three daughters are enough for us, but we still need a son to appease society. Society demands a son." (Informant H).

I asked her again why society needs a son. She replied,

"If we don't have a son, someone else's son will inherit our property." (Informant H).

summing up

The overall finding of this study is that various cultural barriers seem to be problems for women's access to education in rural area. The patterns and themes that emerge from the data provided by nine women from rural areas. The findings fall into five categories that become the sub-chapters of early marriage, household work, caste-based discrimination, son preference tradition, and gender discrimination.

In working for an understanding, the women's lifestyle in rural area, we must remember that most of the women were engaged in daily domestic work and farming in the fields. Early marriage in the countryside in particular limits women's access to education. Due to their lack of education, women were valuable only for giving birth to children and taking care of home and family. Moreover, many parents seemed more conscious of the importance of a son's education. In contrast, in Nepalese society parents view a daughter's education as wasted investment. Likewise, caste discrimination presents problems for women's access to education. The lower-caste people in rural area live under the high-caste domination and suffer from poverty. Thus, poor families cannot allow their daughters to study because they need to look after their siblings at home and help their parents with the domestic work.

In addition, the findings of this study reveal that despite being trapped inside the wider cultural barriers in rural area, most of my participants seemed to be interested to join the literacy program in the village. In the next chapter, I will discuss these findings more precisely.

Chapter 6: Discussion

This chapter presents the main findings from the interviews I conducted with nine informants, discuss these in relation to the theories presented in chapter four, and on this basis, attempt to answer my research question. Due to the limited scope of this thesis, I will not able to discuss all the findings from the interviews, but focus largely on those problems that can help to understand cultural barriers to women's access to education in rural area.

6.1 Some cultural barriers to women's access to education

6.1.1 Early marriage

Early marriage is commonly practiced, in poor, rural parts of developing countries (UNICEF,2005) where there is lack of access to education among the local people (UNICEF,2012). Similarly, the findings of this study indicated that overwhelming majority of people in the rural area experience poor living conditions within a strict traditional cultural environment. Moreover, this cultural environment forces girls to marry at early age, which in turn, further limits their education. Likewise, from the findings of this study, it became clear that such poor, uneducated people find it impossible to stop harmful traditional practices from continuing to harm the communities' women.

On the other hand, Mathur, et al., 2003 state that parents encourage marring their daughters while they are still children in the hope that the marriage will benefit the family socially, while relieving financial burdens. The findings of this study, moreover, suggest that poor families with limited resources believed they could not afford education for daughters. Although education from the government school was free, it was very hard to afford other necessary materials goods necessary for study. Instead, parents preferred to get their daughters married at an early age to reduce financial burdens in the family. A similar result was demonstrated in India by Singh and Samara in 1996, where the higher the level of poverty and lack of access to education opportunities, the more likely women are to marry before they reach the age of 20 years.

The findings of this study demonstrate that poverty was a major reason for girls to get married at an early age. In the location of the interviews conducted, many poor parents were willing to see their daughters married before the age of 15 years old. In this regard, according to participant B, it was clear that "due to the lack of enough food and other necessary things for the family, it was decided that she should marry, when she was 15 years old." Another negative traditional practice of early marriage in India is the issues of dowry. In Indian tradition, girls' families are responsible for paying dowry and the marriage celebration of their daughters. Daughters in Indian families are therefore considered economic burdens. Culturally, more educated daughters who are older than 15 usually require a high dowry (UNEFPA,2012).

Rural Indian marriage traditions are comparable with traditional practices of early marriage in Nepal, regarding the issue of dowry. Although widely practiced all over Nepal, the requirement of dowry is constant in the high-lying Terai region in the southern part of the country. "There this cultural practice, among parents having more daughters, leads to economic collapse, severely affecting the families' economy because since they have to pay a huge amount of money as dowry." However, if parents do not pay the dowry demanded by the grooms' families, daughters are often tortured, including having acid thrown in their faces or being burned alive (Central for Social Research, 2005).

From the above, it was clear that the more educated daughters are, the more expensive the dowries to be paid to find the educated grooms. Therefore, parents prefer to get their daughters at early age to avoid heavy expenses in their marriage (Maharjan et al., 2012).

However, in this study, dowry was not a serious issue with regard to early marriage. I did my research in Hills region in the eastern part of Nepal. In this area, the findings showed it was traditional to give household items and ornaments in the marriage, if brides belonged to rich families. This was demanded by grooms' families. On the other hand, Gittelsohn et al., 1997 reported that, in patriarchal Nepalese society, girls are considered financial burden for the family. As seen in the findings, many parents believed that all the resources and investment on daughters' education became meaningless because they leave their parents' house once they get married. Furthermore, Klark (2000) argues that daughters might represent a substantial economic burden in places where their parents provided dowry. The findings of this study, however, suggest that the early marriage practices in rural areas still occurs at high rates. Many people live in rural area with their own communities and traditions. In these rural

traditions, women have house care responsibilities, as well as duties in agriculture and animal husbandry. As a result, parents are not paying attention to their daughters' education. Yet, the findings showed that religious and cultural practices still favor the marriage of daughters at as very early age, often before their first menstruation.

In this regard, (Acharya et al 2007). state that the practice of early marriage prevails mostly in high caste families, because it is a matter of honor for them. Interestingly, in comparison with the other castes in this study, high caste families seemed to be more positive towards early marriage. For example, during the wedding ceremony, parents must drink water from the bride's feet. So, if parents can do this before the first menstruation of their daughters, they feel socially fortunate. On the other hand, there is the concept expressed in the word Kanyadan, "the gift of a virgin" which signified the giving away of daughters.

Early marriage hinders the development of the individual's right to health, education and choice of a life partner (Loaiza Sr &Wong,2012). Likewise, in this study, many women in rural area have limited rights and opportunities for education and personal development. Instead of education, parents held to traditional beliefs that they ought to see their daughters married at very early ages. They often worried that if they arranged their daughters' marriage according to social expectations, they would not be able to see them married at all. This is why many parents valued early marriage of their daughters instead of education in rural area.

Furthermore, when girls are married as children, they are denied an education and opportunities to develop their potential at a pivotal life stage (Baysenge,1998). The findings from this study signify that many parents perceived that daughters' education would only benefit their husbands' household, not their parents'. Additionally, some parents believed that girls do not need education for their roles as wives and mothers, and that education undermines cultural practices. Likewise, Bista (2004) described how many parents' attitude was that daughters' education as a bad investment, since daughters typically live at their husbands' houses. "Why invest money for daughters' education that will soon be someone else's?"

¹¹ Kanyadan is associated with the marriage system. 'The gift of a virgin'

On the other hand, Mohammed (2000) stated that when a favorable marriage proposal arises, parents readily marry their daughters whether the girls in question are mature or not. If daughters are going to school, parents might withdraw them from school. However, early marriage is a socio- cultural factor that hampers the girls from going to school. Similarly, during an interview participant H, who addressed this experience, when the question was asked, "Why did you get married at an early age instead of going to school?" said that her parents believed that if a daughter refused the first proposal of marriage, she might never receive another. The problem is that it did not matter what age a daughter had reached, in Nepalese culture it was assumed that she should get married to the first man who proposed. "For participant H, it was clear that she was held back by traditional beliefs that her parents saw as an essential aspect of their Nepalese culture."

Likewise, the findings from the interviews showed parents thought that matured daughters were great burden in the sense that when they grow older, it becomes more difficult to find a suitable groom for them. So, parents wished to get married their daughter in early age, even though early marriage had been observed as one important contributing cultural barrier that deprived girls of in rural area. Moreover, as has been noted in the previous research, it was clear that in Nepalese culture, where men are considered as the main leaders at home, girls are generally married earlier.

As seen in the findings, in Hindu Nepalese culture, where complex characteristics of eloping to escape was not acceptable. Parents did not wish to see the elopement of daughters without permission from their families. If daughters eloped without parental permission, their communities perceive them negatively. However, parents did not wait until their daughter being mature age. On the other hand, it was clear that eloping away can cause damage to family's prestige in Nepalese Hindu culture. So, parents considered for marriage when daughter get 10-12 years old.

Likewise, another major tradition was seen in the findings: the issue of chastity and virginity of the daughters is considered as an important matter for family honor in Nepalese culture. In regards, Verma et al. (2013) describe how early marriage is part of the responsibility of parents to protect the chastity of daughters until they get married. Therefore, parents choose to

marry their daughters from the fear of sexual violence and daughters' decision to start sexual activities before marriage.

6.1.2 Household work

Another cultural barrier to women's' access to education in this study was household work. While interviewing illiterate women in rural areas, it was observed that parents were conscious about sons' education and forced daughters to learn and carry out all household work. This research finding supports Barrett and Brown (1993); the World Bank (1995) and Waring (1996) who argue that since an early age, helping in the kitchen, collecting grass for cattle and firewood, fetching water, tending young siblings, cleaning house, and washing dishes and clothes are daily tasks for girls. Likewise, based on my data, all my participants were involved in household duties since early age. They also did farm work during the planting and harvesting seasons. They said that their brothers, on the other hand, were often excused from these tasks and allowed to attend school. Such traditional culture is still very common in many rural communities in Nepal. By considering the reality of women's household work and the lack of opportunities they have for education, we can better understand the difficulty of their life situation

Based on the available data from the interviews, all my participants engaged with domestic work to replace their mothers in the family. Since an early age, they were involved in cooking, cleaning utensils, cleaning house, sweeping the yard, feeding the cattle and so on. In this connection, my research findings support Cheno and Narain (2003) who argue that daughters of all ages and abilities routinely care for younger siblings and perform household chores such as cooking, cleaning, and feeding etc. On the other hand, it was clear that from the findings of this study that the low value assigned to girls' education has been culturally and socially constructed in rural Nepalese society. They were trained to bear the responsibilities of a mature women since a very early stage of their life. Nepalese parents focus their learning to perform household work nicely from early childhood.

Using the data from Bangladesh, Baden et al. (1994; Baden, 1994) reported that traditional conservative attitudes towards women were one of the most important factors that slowed down their daughters' participation in education and events outside the home. Parents of school-going children consider girls' education as a waste of funds because most parents have

the stereotyped idea that daughters are only valuable for household tasks within family boundaries. I agree with Baden et al. (1994) and Baden, (1994); in this study, similar traditional conservative attitudes of parents towards daughters' education were evident. Further, the results showed that parents' conservative attitudes and cultural practices played a significant role to make the decision of household duties for daughters instead of schooling. On the other hand, some parents believed that daughters did not need an education for their roles as housewives after getting married. Therefore, the important lesson for daughters is to learn household work well and in this way, get ready for marriage. Likewise, Glick and Sahn (2000) argue that parents' attitudes are the most important factor that determines the decision for limiting daughters' education.

In west African countries, Glick and Sahn (2000) determined that within the parental education and maternal education there are different influence over the children's education in which improvements in fathers' education raises the schooling of both sons and daughters. On the other hand, mothers' education has significant impact only daughters' education. Previous research shows that the mother's education has more influence on the well-being of children than does the father's education. In Nepalese culture, mother tends to be the main provider of care within the household. Likewise, the findings of this study revealed that many of the female participants asked their mothers to send them to school after they had finished all the morning housework. But, they did not ask their father because in Nepalese culture, daughters share everything with their mother rather than their father. Nevertheless, they did not get the opportunity for education because their mother always forced them to work at home.

Furthermore, historically, mothers assigned women "the value of hard work, chastity and proper behavior, and focused more on women's roles as daughters, daughters in- law, mothers and wives" (Schuler et al., 2006). Similarly, the findings of this study showed that in rural Nepalese communities, girls are not responsibilities for economic activities. Instead they are viewed as potential wives, daughters-in-laws and mothers and considered the perfect people to take care of family members. They are also child bearers and housekeepers. On the other hand, during the interviews, it was observed that poor families had more children. It was not possible to study all children with limited financial resources, but the commonly observed rule was that parents choose their sons to send school and focused on assigning to daughters to work at home, such as collecting firewood, cutting grasses and working in the fields.

Similarly, Drez and Kingdon (2001) argue that not all children have equal access to education in poor families. The effect is very serious for daughters because such parents prefer to send only male children to school. Moreover, the findings of this study suggest that daughters were culturally bound to support their devotion to household related works and the support of family members in Nepalese society.

In this regard, I would argue that household works to be performed by girls has been impact on access to education. On the other hand, it was clear that they did not have time to go to school. Parents focused them to engage on household work from their early age as the preparation for their married life. So, since morning to evening, they were engaging with at home and agriculture. Despite of very interest to access to education, the parents didn't give that opportunity for daughters. Interestingly, "for participant E, because of her attending school one day with brother, she got a physical violence for 4 days by her mother" However, the voice of daughter was not heard by parents, and a daughter was imposed with the interest of the parents rather than her own interest.

On the other hand, Chatterjee (1989) indicated that women are expected to take off from school to supervise, old, sick and disabled family members. During the interviews, about three-fourths of participants said that they did all the housework, took care of old parents- in-law and worked in the fields. From the participants' voices, it was clear that due to the lack of education, they had spent their lives in household work, the care of children, old, and agricultural work in the fields. In comparison with the Nepalese context, women's involvement in the household is similar to the African context. In Cameroon, Sama (1994) suggests that the whole day of rural women in Cameroon is occupied and devoted to household chores. Likewise, according to Okojie (1996), Nigerian rural women spend about 35 percent of their time working in agriculture fields and 40 percent on household work.

Furthermore, Bhattaria (2006) argues that their huge household responsibilities make women less available for education and social events in rural areas. The findings of this study showed that since an early age, all participants were engaged with household work; cooking, cleaning, collecting firewood from jungle, cutting grasses for cattle and caring for siblings. Moreover, parents did not give them an opportunity to educate themselves. In this regard, a similar argument is made by Pandey (2006), who indicates that parents did not want to see value in

education for their daughters in the future. During the interviews, some of my participants claimed that due to the lack of a school near their homes, it was very difficult to go to school after they had finished all house work in the morning. On the other hand, parents did not give them permission to go far away from home. The findings by Shtrii Shalcti, (1995 and Subedi (1997) also argue that many daughters in rural areas are confined to household work and agricultural activities instead of education.

By taking all the household responsibilities and accepting the culturally dictated order of family life, many women in rural area are deprived of education. During the interviews, all my participants shared the experience of, at an early age, waking their parents early in the morning. First, they used to finish all the morning household work. Thereafter, they had to be ready to go to fields during the harvesting season. Otherwise, parents used to ask them to go to the jungle to cut grasses. In spite of these chores, they were willing to go to school, even though household responsibilities gave them less of an opportunity. On the other hand, parents believed that in Nepalese culture, daughters could not be doctors, engineers and teacher and so on. Consequently, they asked their daughters to be perfect in household work instead of education.

6.1.3 The high value of a son

According to the data from the interviews, it was believed that without having a son, parents could not go to heaven after death in Nepalese society. Similarly, Karki (1988) says that in Nepalese society, the most important role of sons is at the time of their parent's death when only sons are expected to perform the funeral rites. From a religious point of view, some think that sons are the means by which they can reach heaven after death (Karki, 1988). The findings of this study suggest that the widespread traditional belief is that the door of heaven will be opened for people when they die if they have a son. Such a religious belief and value always puts a son in a higher value than daughters in Nepalese society. In this regard, Karki (1988) has concluded that the high value of son is mainly due to socio – cultural reasons rather than economic.

In this regard, during the interviews, one of my participant told her life story. "I got married to a 60-years-old man. At the time, I was 20 years old. The man had nine daughters from his previous wife, but he was expecting son from me. There was no sign that his previous wife

could bear him a son, so, he got married with me to father a son. After some years, I gave birth to two sons. My man felt very happy and believed he would go to heaven after death". This example appropriate here because it clarifies how high a value religious belief in Nepalese society puts on having a son.

According to the world fertility document, the preference for sons in Nepal was demonstrated for the first time in the 1980s. Sons are highly preferred by parents because they continue the family name for the next generation; perform funeral rites and provide security for the old (Haughton and Haughton, 1995; Leone et al., 2003; Nanda et al., 2012). On the other hand, from this study's findings, it is clear that many people prefer sons to daughter's due to cultural beliefs and the practice that daughters will get married and become part of other lineages and households. It is believed that parents are supported by sons in their old age whereas daughters go away to their husband's house when they get married.

Likewise, in Indian culture, sons are valued because of their various life functions. For example, the higher economic value of sons stems from their future income and support for their parents in old age (Arnold, Choe & Roy, 1998; Bardhan,1988; Basu, 1989). In addition, the highest religious value is given to sons because religious functions in Hindu culture require their participation for issues deemed important to religion (Arnold, Choe & Roy, 1998). Daughters, on the other hand, are seen as a liability because of the requirement of a dowry, the costs of the wedding, the parental search for marriage partner for a daughter when she is at an early age, the careful supervision that is necessary due to the importance of chastity, and the transference of her family membership to her husband's family after marriage (Arnold, Choe & Roy, 1998; Kishor, 1995).

When comparing the Indian traditional cultural practice, the finding of this study showed that similar traditions in exist in Nepalese society as well. Sons were believed to be the old age support for parents, the protection and expansion of the family property, and the source of the continuation of the family' generations. Moreover, it was found that after death, according to the Hindu religious convention, sons were important as the performers of the funeral rites to purify the souls of the dead. On the other hand, daughters would become part of other lineages and households after marriage, and were the source of family expenditure mainly in

the marriage ceremony and due to dowry system. In this context, parents believed that education for daughters was a wasteful investment after their marriage.

The above finding finds support from Hennink &Simkhada (2004), who argue that sons hold deeper socio- cultural, and economic importance for families, whereas daughters receive less value from these all perspectives. According to traditional belief, only a son who can give deliverance to the ancestors and perform funeral rites. This belief has led many families to abandon their daughters, which stigmatizes the daughters and disempowers them in all perspectives of their life (Hennink &Simkhada ,2004). Likewise, according to a similar argument by Filmer (2005), parents invest more in sons as way of increasing their resources in old age. They believe that all investment in a son's education will be returned when parents get old. This means that when parents become old, only a son who will take care them, buy their medicine, pay doctor's fee for treatment, and supply other basic needs. Moreover, parents believe that if they invest money for son's education, that investment will be returned in the size of the dowry from the bride's home in marriage.

In addition, in patriarchal Nepalese society, the birth of a girl is considered to be followed by misfortune and occasionally, might result in abandoning a wife who does not bear sons. The men become proud of themselves if they have sons in their family as fathering a son is believed to be an indicator of their masculinity (Nanda et al., 2012). The findings from this study signify the same. The men expected sons rather than daughters during the birthing of a child. If their wife bears a son, her husband and the families become happy, and they sacrifice a male goat to feed the mother. But if she gives birth to a daughter, they do not show pleasure or take care nicely of the mother. This finding receives support from CREHPA (2007) and Karki (1988), who argue that families are not given nutritious food to eat after birth of a daughter. Such women are also compelled to go to work rapidly after delivery, whereas those women who give birth to a son receive more care. For example, they are not allowed to go to work earlier. This indicates that mothers of sons have high status in the family and society.

Furthermore, (Nanda et al., 2012) reported that most families do not celebrate the birth of daughter. If a daughter is born in the family, they let it be known to their neighbors only after some months. On the other hand, they immediately celebrate the birth of a son and spread the news to all relatives and neighbors. Moreover, the findings of this study show that there are

various superstitions and misbeliefs entrenched in Hindu traditional society regarding a woman without a son. These women have faced a lot of psychosocial "torture" from their own families first and society second. People from the society at large give them a lot of pejorative nicknames and believe them to be a sign or source of misfortune or bad luck. For example; rural traditional society believes that meeting a sonless woman early in the morning can bring bad luck for the whole day. They also hesitate to talk to sonless woman. It is even very difficult to buy and sale the property for sonless parents.

Because of these various religious and cultural attitudes in their society, many women in the Nepalese countryside want, however possible, to have a son rather than a daughter during birth. In this regard, Milar (1981) states that the high value accorded to a son is deeply rooted in socio- cultural, economic and religious practices. The findings from this study signify that traditional culture and some religious beliefs create problems for sonless women in rural Nepalese society. On the other hand, in these places sons are the inheritors of parental property and the representatives of traditional Hindu culture. In Nepalese society, by cultural practice and law, property rights and family formation inheritance go from the parents to the sons. However, despite being equal inheritors at birth, a daughter's right to ancestral property is revoked once her marital status changes. Nepalese law property rights (2003) indicate that daughters can acquire parental property, but only up to their marriage. Once married, they lose all ancestral property rights.

Further, the finding of this study reveal that sonless parents have no value. Local society ignores them in cultural activities. If a family does not have a son, all its property inherited someone else's son. A daughter does not hold her parents' property instead of someone else's son. Although the findings of this study showed the value of son is high in Nepalese society, daughters are valued for their help with housework, taking care of younger children and companionship with the mother.

In summary, from the findings of this study it is clear that the main reasons for wanting sons are that they are supposed to look after parents at their old age and the funeral ceremonies. Likewise, the findings show, another important reason to put a high value on sons is that the traditional belief that the door of heaven will be opened for parents after death if they have a son. On the other hand, it is clear that parents who are waiting for sons while having having

more and more daughters, might produce a large family without an heir. Of course, having a large family creates difficulties for giving equal opportunities to all the children. As the value is given to son, parents choose to invest in their sons' education and force their daughters to stay at home and do the housework.

Bajracharya (1994) and Subedi (1997), concur that in Nepalese culture allows sons to perform all religious rituals, and excludes daughters. Sons hold deeper socio-cultural, religious and economic importance for families, whereas daughters are viewed only as a part of another family. Therefore, sons have a very high status in Nepalese society and parents are willing to send only their son to school, whereas they see daughters' education as a wasted investment.

6.1.4 Caste based gender discrimination

Another point that I realized through this study raises cultural barriers to women's education is caste based gender discrimination. In this regard, DFID (2006) reports that caste based discrimination was officially banned in 1963. However, the findings of this study show that caste based discrimination still exists in Nepalese society. That sort of discrimination affects lower caste women to access to education. Likewise, Bhattachan et.al (2009) state that lower caste communities remain far behind in social, economic, educational, political and religious spheres due to caste based discrimination and untouchability. They further argue that lower caste people, particularly women, face various types of discrimination in the society. They fall into the lowest category in the caste hierarchy and are treated as untouchables (ibid).

The findings demonstrate that women belonging to lower castes do not get educational opportunity. They are therefore, always dependent on higher caste people in society. Likewise, the International Dalit Solidarity Network, (2016) reported that Dalit women face multiple forms of discrimination, as women, poor people and as members of the lower caste. The findings of this study reveal that Dalit women are forced to live in most vulnerable conditions. They constituted the major workforce occupied with hard manual labor and every day engaged in agricultural operations with high caste families. Similarly, they suffered from a vicious cycle of poverty over many generations and inhumane behavior from high caste people. All Dalit women participants had similar views of the reason of situation of the Dalit community, which existed in the context of caste based discriminatory practices, especially bias in the education sector and the unequal distribution of human and material resources.

Bishwakarma (2011) supports this study's finding, stating that Dalit children face caste based discrimination in educational institutions. According to my data from the interviews, it was true that Dalit children faced the discrimination by teachers and high caste children. They were not allowed to sit beside the non-Dalit students, not allowed to touch water, food, and even not allowed to walk together with non- Dalit. Moreover, Upreti, B.C. (2007) states that the lower caste people, scattered all over the country, are generally illiterate, poor, perform menial jobs, have marginal living conditions, and face social abuses. It was clear that from my own findings that there was no doubt that lower caste people lived in extreme poverty and faced social problems in rural area.

Due to the lack of enough land and other sources of income, Dalit parents always devote their whole life working with high caste people. The problem is that they have more children than other castes. They have difficulty providing for all basic needs for their children. This means that from morning to evening, they must be engaging in work with caste families. They are not able to send their daughters to school because from an early age. daughters have all the responsibilities at home involved with taking care of siblings and doing housework. Moreover, as the findings show, Dalit parents in rural areas were unable to send their daughters to school because of the financial problem.

Likewise, Shrestha (2002) argues that lower caste daughters are forced to work as servants for their landlord without much of a wage. Furthermore, the Hindu scripture *Manusmriti*, describes how the caste system is based on the differentiation of people in terms of their occupation or profession (Indian Institute of Dalit Studies, 2008). This study, on the other hand, shows that landlessness and poverty are the main reasons for caste based discrimination in Nepalese society. Of course, lower caste people work in low-level occupations. They made iron equipment, sewed high caste people's clothes, did cleaning work, handled dead animals, and worked with polluting, processes, such as tanning leather. In addition, for some reason, perhaps because of the lower level of work, its dirtiness, or because of religious beliefs, Dalit are considered as the worst people to see at the time of departure for high caste. People believed that the look of the Dalit always bring evil to their work. Similarly, (Ghurye, 1964) states that the fundamentally concepts castes are very commonly associated with traditional occupations.

During the interviews, Dalit women mentioned that they lived in a society of extreme high caste domination. The high caste people did not encourage their parents send them to school. From an early age, parents therefore forced their daughters to work with high caste families. In addition, firewood was very important for them to cook food in the morning and evening. Due to the lack of land, they did not have their own jungle, so parents forced their daughters go to the open jungle and collect firewood. In this regard, one participant said, "I used to travel for hours to reach the jungle. I used to spend the whole day in the jungle to collecting firewood with neighbors."

Moreover, lower caste people are not allowed to enter religious places. They are to perform menial jobs that are prohibited for the high caste people and allowed to live in the fringe areas of the urban localities with no facilities (Upreti, B.C.2007). Likewise, findings suggest that because of the various reasons as mentioned above by (Upreti, B.C.2007), Dalit people get mentally affected by the society. They did not send their sons to school. They think that Dalit people cannot do anything except work in menial jobs for the high caste population. It was true that in Nepalese society, high caste people did not want to give them opportunities, whether they were educated or not. On the other hand, findings showed that due to the lack of money, Dalit parents do not send their daughters to school. It was very hard to afford the necessary equipment for study, such as books, a uniform, paper and pens. Their income was too low even to buy enough food and clothes for their children.

Summing up

In this chapter, I have attempted to discuss some cultural barriers for rural women's access to education in Nepal. In rural areas, the cultural barriers to their education are early marriage, household work, the high value of a son and caste based gender discrimination. Early marriage is a common practice among the Nepalese people. None my participant got the opportunity to go to school. The socio-cultural belief in early marriage frustrated their desire for access to education. The household work of the daughters played against their interest in education. It was clear from the interviews, that from an early age, parents forced their daughters stay at home and learn household tasks instead of sending them school. Due to the lack of education, the role of my participants was limited to household chores and the rearing

of children. While they contributed to their family's occupations, farming or trading, their work was considered unproductive.

Moreover, the caste based gender discrimination was a problem for women's access to education. From the interviews, it was clear that the high caste people did not allow Dalit women to enter any religious, public or private place. They were not allowed to touch water or food or to sit together with high caste people. Lower caste people lived in extremely poor conditions. They devoted their whole life to working with high caste families. Some participants felt that the caste system was still practiced in many rural parts of Nepal. Also, the high value accorded to sons was problem for women's access to education. The widespread religious traditional belief in Nepalese society is that the door of heaven will be opened for the people after death if they have a son. So, parents give educational opportunity to a son rather than daughter. Some of my participants have understood the importunate of education for a daughter. They will probably give their daughters better opportunities.

Chapter 7: Conclusion

In understanding of this study, readers should remember that Nepal is one of the poorest countries in the world. The majority of its people live in rural areas. Due to the lack of education among most people there, traditional cultural beliefs and practices remain extremely deep-rooted in rural Nepalese society. Although men and women are both important agents and should participate equally for the development of society and country, it is not yet practically possible in Nepalese rural context. In the rural area, many women are still illiterate. This is because women are more vulnerable, and do not get educational opportunities. Cultural beliefs and practices present the main problems for women's access to education in rural area. In this study, I wanted to see how these local cultural barriers exert limiting influences women's education on a daily basis. The focus of one research question therefore was as follows: "In what ways might cultural barriers influence Nepalese women's access to education in the rural area?"

During study, my aim was to see the problems for women's access to education and parents' unequal treatment of sons and daughters' education. The study's findings are that several cultural barriers restrict rural women's education. Parents' attitudes do not favor daughters' education because of the cultural beliefs and practices in the society. With reference to the main objective of this study as the impact of cultural barriers on women's access to education in a rural area, the finding is that daughters suffered discrimination with regard to education. Parents were willing to send their sons to school and forced their daughters to stay home and limit their development to leaning how to do household tasks properly.

My research finding supports Bista (2004) who asserts that many parents' attitude is that daughters' education is a bad investment, since daughters typically live at their husbands' houses after they marry. "Why invest money for daughters' education that will soon be someone else's?", as one informant baldly put it. Based on this study's findings, it can be concluded that the cultural barriers influenced women's access to education in the rural area are mainly 'early marriage, household work, caste-based gender discrimination and the high value placed on having a son'.

The socio-cultural reasons I found during the interviews that reinforced the preference for sons were that they are believed to be 1) the old age support for parents, 2) the way to

preserve the family name, 3) the means of protecting and expanding the family property, and 4) the sole source of producing a new generation of the family. Moreover, the informants explained that sons are important because they perform all religious rituals, including the funeral rites to purify the dead bodies of parents. In contrast, daughters become part of other lineages and households when they get married. Sons are believed to be equally important for the family's economic benefit through their employment, whereas daughters are the source of expenditure mainly through marriage ceremony and the dowry system. Thus, the participants' parents preferred to send their sons, rather than their daughters to school.

Another problem for women's access to education in rural area was found during the interviews, the household is thought to belong to women in Nepalese society. Therefore, they engage with housework - cleaning, feeding, farming, cutting grass, collecting firewood etc. This research finding supports Barrett and Brown (1993); who argue that since an early age, helping in the kitchen, collecting grass for cattle and firewood, fetching water, tending young siblings, cleaning house, and washing dishes and clothes are daily tasks for girls. Based on the data from interviews, many parents in rural area, encourage their daughters to learn housework properly instead of studying. So, the women have to master all household responsibilities in order to be a good wife and good daughter-in law in the future. Furthermore, many parents wished to see their daughters become excellent household workers in future. My research finding suggests that this socio-cultural practice with its prevailing, deep-rooted values and beliefs deprives women of access to education in rural area of Nepal.

Based on the findings of this study, parents' conservative attitudes and cultural practices played a significant role to make the decision of household duties for daughters instead of education in rural area. This finding supports Glick and Shan (2000) who argue that parents' attitudes are the most important issues that determine daughter's schooling and the decision for the daughter schooling instead of household work. On the other hand, the findings of this study revealed that some parents believed that daughters did not need an education for their roles as housewives after getting married. However, in this study, many women are remaining powerless to improve their lives from rural area because they are burdened by household responsibilities and deprived of educational opportunities.

Moreover, based on the available data from the interviews, parents were more concerned to give their daughters away before first menstruation in order to go to heaven than they were to give them an education. This finding supports Maharjan et al. (2012) who argues that the cultural beliefs of families belonging particularly to the high caste daughters' foundation for early marriage. These beliefs dictated that determined to see their daughters married before first menstruation. Based on the data from interviews, during the wedding ceremony, parents must drink water from the bride's feet. So, if parents can do this before the first menstruation of their daughters, they feel socially fortunate.

This research finding suggests that the cultural beliefs of early marriage influences for women's access to education in rural area. On the other hand, it was found during the interviews, arranging early marriage was acceptable for society. If daughters found man and eloped from home without family support, however, society perceived them all negatively. So, many parents in rural area seemed more concerned about their prestige because if daughters eloped, they damage their prestige from the society. Moreover, poverty also seemed to be problem for early marriage in rural area. Poor parents did not have the economic resources for afford basic needs and other necessities for daughter's study. So, they preferred their daughter married at an early age instead of schooling.

On the basis of the data from interviews, poverty is another reason for persistence of early marriage in Nepalese society. The economic situation of my lower caste participants' parents was extremely poor due to the land and income sources. This finding supports Maharjan et al. (2012) who asserts that poor families couldn't afford necessary things for Daughters' education. Instead, they prefer them to get married at an early age in order to reduce the financial burden of the family. My research finding suggest that cultural beliefs and practices are main reason for early marriage rather than of poverty in high caste families. On the other hand, it was clear that from available data poverty was problem only lower caste family for persistence of early marriage. Thus, parents prefer their daughters to get married at an early age.

Moreover, another tradition was of early marriage in Nepalese society, the issue of chastity and virginity of the daughters. My research finding supports Verma et al. (2013) who argue that in Nepalese society, the responsibility of the parents to protect the chastity daughters

unless they get married. They choose to marry their daughters from the fear of sexual violence and daughters' decision to starting sexual activity before marriage. Thus, parents became willing to get married their daughters in small age.

Based on the data from interviews, caste-based discrimination causes social inequality for lower caste people in Nepalese society, which does not consider women belonging to the lower caste competent to receive education. The people belonging to the high castes always neglect them in the public sectors and discourage them from attempting to get job opportunities based on their qualifications. Moreover, thoroughly formed by their society, many lower-caste women do not want to access to education because they feel learning is not proper for their caste. Of course, landless and completely dependent on the high-caste people to survive, most lower-caste people in rural areas are unable to send their children to school even if they want to because of their poverty.

Parents of the low-caste women informants, who are called Dalit or the untouchable, work hard for high-caste people, but earn so little that they barely manage to feed their children. Their daughters have all the responsibilities at home involved with taking care of siblings and doing housework. Parents also force their daughters to stay at home because unless mothers and fathers are away from home working for high-caste families, they do not earn enough to feed their families. Investing in education is impossible for them. Public education, in any case, is nearly impossible for Dalit children because they are not allowed to sit beside high-caste students, touch their betters' water and food, or walk together with non- Dalit.

The study throws light on another problem: The Dalit have more children than other castes do because of their lack of education and awareness about the society. That is why it is very difficult for Dalit parents to provide for all the basic needs of their children. Therefore, they must be work very hard from morning to night with high caste families in order to afford the food for children. They cannot afford to send all their children to school, and prioritize sons because of the socio-cultural values connected to them in family life. Thus, lower-caste people are unable to send their daughters to school because of their financial situation and traditional style of family life.

The findings of this research suggest that daughters are perceived to be a financial burden for the family. The daughters leave their parents' home and move to their husband's home after getting married. Investing in their education is perceived to have no economic and social benefit to the family in rural areas. On the other hand, sons are generally considered as a source of old-age security for their parents. These biased preferences and cultural beliefs and practices are reflected in the lifelong neglect of women in rural Nepal. Given their low status, they are restricted in access to education and employment opportunities. This is one of the reasons to preoccupy daughters with household work instead of schooling.

On the other hand, it was clear that from the interviews that poverty also plays a central role in severely limiting women's access to education in rural areas. As I already discussed above, the economic condition of the lower-caste participants in the study was very poor due to the lack of land and income resources. Therefore, this study concludes that poverty is a major contributing factor in keeping women deprived of a right to education, forcing them to engage in an unbroken cycle of household work to make the family happy.

As mentioned above, from my research findings there are various problems for women's access to education. It is the case not only in Nepalese society, but in many parts of the world, especially in developing countries due to the cultural beliefs and practices, economic situation and perception of family. For example, women's situation and problems to gain to access to education are similar in the rural area of Nepal and India (Madhura, 2011).

My research findings help to understand the local cultural barriers are the main problems for women's access to education. Moreover, it is also helped to understand without education how is the lives of Nepalese women in rural area. My analysis concludes that the problems for women's access to education is due to the several local cultural barriers in rural area. The research also uncovers how cultural beliefs and practices as well as parents' attitudes exercise strong influences on women's access to education. These practices are rooted in patriarchal societal forms in which where women are seen as hindrances in terms of their education opportunities.

This paper has pointed to the problems for women's access to education in rural area. Based on the findings, local cultural barriers are main problems for women's access to education. In

the light of these findings in Nepalese context, women assume responsibility for the domestic work to replace their mother in the family, and so are forced to engage on household works from an early age. Second, the strict traditional cultural environment forced daughter to merry at early age which in turn, further limits their education. Third, the religious belief and value and cultural practices always puts a son in a higher value than daughters in Nepalese society. Parents were willing to send only their sons to school, whereas they see daughters' education as a wasted investment. Fourth, the caste based discrimination in Nepalese society which does not consider women belonging to the lower caste competent to receive education. Thus, they did not get an opportunity to go to school.

This research project suggests that, although the society is growing more aware of rural women's situation due to national and international agencies working for women's education, the government offer of equal education opportunities for women remains unfulfilled because of the continuing strength of traditional cultural beliefs and practices. Moreover, the larger picture is that in rural area of Nepal most women remain excluded socially, economically educationally and politically.

Bibliography

Acharya M. 2011 'Changing structure of household in Nepal and their likely impact on women,' paper presented to the international conference on Changing Dynamic in Nepali Society and Politics.

Acharya, A. Ghimire, P., Mathema, P. Acharya., Koirala, C., Shrestha, N., and Sapkota, B. (2007). *Gender Equality and Empowerment of Women in Nepal*. UNFPA.

Acharya, M. (1993). *Thousand economic and women's work in Nepal*. In Raju, S. and Bagchi, D. (eds.). Women and work in South Asia: The regional patterns and perspectives (pp.121-136). London: Routledge.

Acharya, M. (2012). Affirmative action for gender equality and inclusion. Kathmandu: UN Women and UNICE

Acharya, M. and Bennett, L. (1981). *The rural women of Nepal*: An aggregate analysis and summery of eight village studies. Volume II, part 9. CEDA, Nepal.

Acharya, S. (2004). *Democracy, gender equality and women's literacy:* Experience from Nepal Kathmandu: UNESCO.

Acharya, Sushan. (2007). *Social inclusion*. Gender and equity in Education Swaps in South Asia. Kathmandu:

Agarwal, B (2001). *Participatory exclusions, community forestry, and gender*. As analysis for South Asia and a conceptual framework.

Agrawal, Arun (1995). "Dismantling and Divide between Indigenous and Scientific Knowledge", Development and Change, Vol.26, (413-439).

Arnold, F. (1987). *The effect of sex preference on fertility and family planning:* Empirical evidence. Population Bulletin of the United Nations, (23/24), 44-55.

Arnold, F., Choe, M. K., & Roy, T. (1998). Son preference, the family-building process and child mortality in India. Population Studies, 52 (3), 301-315.

Asian Development Bank (1999). *Women in Nepal Country Briefing Paper*. Available from http://www.adb.org/documents/women-nepal-country.brifing.paper (Accessed on 06-01-2016).

Assaad, R. Levison, D., & Zibini, N. (2010). The effect of domestic work on girls' schooling: Evidence from Egypt. Feminist Economics, 16:1,79-18).

Baden, S., Green, C., Goetz, A. M., & Guhathakurta, M. (1994). *Background report on gender issues in Bangladesh* (No. 26) Brighton: Institute of Development Studies.

Baez, B. (2002). Confidentiality in qualitative research: reflections on secrets, power and agency. *Qualitative research*,2(1),35-58.

Bagchi, D. (1993). The household and extra household work of rural women in a changing resource environment in Madhya Pradesh, India. In Raju, S. and Bagchi, D.(eds.). Women and work in South Asia: The regional Patterns and perspectives (pp.137-157). London, New York: Routledge.

Bardhan, P.K. (1988). *Sex disparity in child survival in rural India*. In T.N. Srinivasan and P.K. Bardhan (eds.), Rural Poverty in South India. Oxford University Press.

Barfield, T. (1997), "*The Dictionary of Anthropology*", Blackwell Publish CBS.2012. National Population and Housing Census 2011 (National Report). Kathmandu: Government of Nepal.

Barrett, H. and Browne, A. (1993). *The impact of labor saving devices on the lives of rural African women*. In Momsen, J. H. and Kinnaird, V. (eds.). Different places, different voices: Gender and development in Africa, Asia and Latin America (pp.52-62). London: Routledge.

Basnet, L.D. (2013), Gender Discrimination and Children's Right to Education in Nepal. Perspective of Parents and Children. Master's thesis for the award of master of philosophy (MPhil) in childhood studies.

Basu, A.M. (1989). Is discrimination in food necessary for explaining sex differentials in childhood mortality? Population Studies, 43 (2), 193-210.

Bayisenge, J. (1998). Early marriage as a barrier to girl's education: A Developmental Challenging in Africa.

Berreman, Gerald D. (1967). "Stratification, Pluralism and Interaction: A Comparative Analysis of Caste". In Reuck, Anthony and Julie Knight(eds.). Caste and Race. London: J. and A. Church Ltd.

Beteille, Andre. (1965). *Caste, Class and Power*: Changing Patterns of Stratification in Tanjore Village. California: University of California press:

Bhushal, S. (2008). "Educational and Socio-cultural Status of Nepali Women", *Himalayan Journal of Sociology and Anthropology*, vol.3no.0 pp.139-147.

Borland, K.W. (2001). *Qualitative and Quantitative Research*: A complementary Balance. New directions for Institutional Research, 112,5-13.

Bryman, Alan (2008): *Social Research Methods*. Third Edition, Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Burbank, J. (1994). Culture Shock Nepal. Kuperard: London:

Burns, R. (2000). *Introduction to research methods* (2nd ed.). Melbourne, Australia Longman.

Caddell, M. (2007). *Education and change: Ahistorical perspective on schooling development and the Nepali nation-state*. In Kumar K. Oesterheld J. (Eds.). Education and Social Change in South Asia, (pp. 251-284) New Delhi: Orient Longman.

Carol E. Henderson, "cultural and custom of India", (British Library Cataloguing, 2002)

Castro-Gomez, S. (2001). "Traditional vs. Critical cultural theory", Cultural Critique.

Central Bureau Statistic (2012). Fact about Nepal

Central for Social Research, 2005, *Trafficking, Dowry Death, Honor Killing in South Asia* (Central for Social Research: The Church Center New York).

Centre for Research on Environment Health and Population Activities (CGEHPA). (2007). *Sex Selection: Pervasiveness and Preparedness in Nepal*. Kathmandu: Nepal.

Chatterjee, M. (1989). *Competence and care for women: Health policy perspectives in the household context*. In Kkishnarj, M. and Chanana, K. (EDS.). Gender and the household domain: Social and cultural dimensions, Women and the Household in Asia, Volume;4. London: SAGE Publication.

Cleland, J.G., Verrall, J., & Vaessen, M. (1983). *Preferences for the sex of children and their influence on reproductive behavior*. World Fertility Survey Comparative Studies, no. 27.

Cohen L., Manion L. & Morrison K. (2000) Research methods in Education. (5th ed.). Routledge: p.269

Colclough, C., Rose, P. & Tembon, M. (2000). *Gender Inequalities in Primary Schooling*: The Role of Poverty and Adverse Cultural Practice. International Journal of Educational Development, 20,5,27.

Creswell, John, W. (2009) Research Design. Qualitative Quantitative, and Mixed methods approach: sage publications.

Dahal, D.R. (2004). *New social movements in Nepal*. Available from http://www.nepaldemocracy.org/civic_education/Social%20Movements.pdf (Accessed on 25-11-2016).

Darnell, F. & Hoem A. (1996). *Taken to Extremes*: Education in the Far North Oslo Scandinavian University Press:

Das A., Hatlebakk. M. (2009) *Statistical Evidence on Social and Economic exclusion in Nepal*. Bergen, Chr. Michelsen Institution.

Deshpande, M.S. (2010). History of the Indian Caste System and Its Impact on India.

Dreze, J., & Kingdon, G.G. (2001). *School Participation in Rural India*: Review of Development Economics, 5:1,1-24.

Duflo, E. (2011). *Women's Empowerment and Economic Development URL*: Available from http://www.nber.org/papers/w17702 (Access on 02-01-2017)

Forsythe, D.E. (1999). "It's Just a Matter of Common Sense." Ethnography as Invisible Work. Computer Supported Cooperative Work, 8, 127-145

Francesca Moneti, 'we can stop child marriage.' (UNICEF) to congress report, July 2010) Availabl from: https://www.unicefusa.org/stories/unicef-congress-we-can-stop-child-marriage/6776 (Accessed on 7-06-2017).

Gender Discrimination: Women Perspective (PDF Download Available). Available from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/215457309 Gender Discrimination Women Perspective (Accessed on 20-02-2017).

Ghurye, G.S. (1964) Caste and Race in India. Bombay: poplar Prakashan

Gibson, M. A. (1988). *Accommodation without assimilation*: Sikh immigrants in an American high school. Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press:

Gittelsohn, J., Thapa, M. Landman, & L.T. (1997). Cultural factors, caloric intake and micronutrient sufficiency in rural Nepali household. Soc. Sci. Med; 44,1739-49.

Glick, P. & Sahn, D. E. (2000). *Schooling of girls and boys in a West African County*: the effects of parental education, income and household structure: Economic of Education Review, 19,63-87.

Greene, M. (2004). *Ending Child Marriage in a Generation*: What Research Is Needed. Food Foundation.

Gyawali, G. (2006). Gender Differences in education: A study. Master thesis: Purbanchal University.

Hall, M. C. (1992). *Women and Empowerment*. Strategies for Increasing Autonomy. Hemisphere Publishing Corporation.

Hannerz, U. (1990) "Cosmopolitans and locals in world culture", in Featherstone, M.(ed.) Global Culture: Nationalism, Globalization and Modernity, London: Sage, pp.237-252. Hur, M.H. (2006) "Empowerment in terms of Theoretical Perspectives: Exploring a Typology of the Process and Components across Disciplines". Journal of Community Psychology; 34(5), 523-540.

Hemming, J. (2009). Exceeding scholarly responsibility: IRBs and political constrains. In Sriram, C.L., King,J.C., Mertus,J.A., Martin-Ortega,O.& Herman, J. (Eds.) *Surviving Field Research: Working in violent and difficult situations* (pp.21-38). Routledge.

Indian Institute of Dalit Studies (2008). "Caste- based Discrimination in South Asia: A study on Nepal." New Delhi. Available from: http://idsn.org/fileadmin/user_folder/pdf/Old_file/asia/pdf/RR_Nepal.pdf (accessed on 9-22-2016).

Johnson, B., & Christensen, L. (2008). *Educational Research: quantitative, qualitative, and mixed approaches* (3th ed.)

Josephides, L. (1985). *The Publication of Inequality: Gender and exchange among the kewa*. London. Cambridge University Press.

Kabeer, N. (2001). "Reflections on the Measurement of Women's Empowerment: In Discussing Women's Empowerment. Theory and Practice", Sida Studies No.3 Novum Grafiska AB: Stockholm.

Kabeer, N. (2003) Discussing Women's Empowerment: Theory and Practice. Sida studies Stockholm.

Kabeer, N. (2005). *Gender Equality and Women's Empowerment*: a critical analysis of the third Millennium Development Goal in Gender and Development March 13 (1): 13-24

Karki, Y.B (1988). Sex Preference and the Value of Sons and Daughters in Nepal: Studies in Family Planning, 19:3, 169-175.

Koirala, C. (2003). Cultural determinants on girl's education. Unpublished manuscript.

Kojie, C. E. E. (1996). *Women in the rural economy in Nigeria*. In Ghorayshi, P. and Belanger, C.(eds.). Women work and gender relations in developing countries: A global perspective, (pp. 57-90). London: Greenwood Press.

Kvale, S.(ED) (1996) Interviews: An Introduction to qualitative research interviewing. London: SAGE publications.

Kvale, S. (1996). Interviews: *An Introduction to Qualitative Research Interviewing*. London: SAGE.

Lamichhane, P., Puri, M., Tamang, J., & Dulal, B. (2011). *Women's Status and Violence against Young Married Women in Rural Nepal*. BioMed Central (BMC) Public Health Volume 11, Issue (19).

Leslie, I. J. (1989). The Perfect Wife: The Orthodox Hindu Women according to the Sridharmpaddhati of Tryambakayajvan. New Delhi: Oxford University Press.

Loaiza Sr, E., & Wong, S. (2012). Marrying too young. End child marriage.

Luitel, S. (2001). The Social World of Nepalese Women

Madhura, R. (2011). *Women Education Challenges in India*. Available from http://www.wewomentoday.com/2011/04/30 women- education- challenges in India. (Accessed on 24-05-2017).

Maharjan, R. K., Karki, K. B., Shakya, T. M., & Aryal, B. (2012). Child marriage in Nepal.

Mahat, Ishara (2003). "Women's Development in Nepal: The Myth of Empowerment", The Fietcher Journal of International Development (PRAXIS) Volume XIII.

Malla, S. (2001). *Property Rights of Nepalese Women Democracy*. Gateway to Nepal Politics and Society. Published by Friedrich Ebert Stiftung Nepal Office. Available from www.nepaldemocracy.org/gender/property/rights.htm (Accessed on 02-01-2016)

Manjupurias, T.C. and Kumar, Rohit (2008). *Religious in Nepal*, Modern Printing Press Kathmandu, Nepal.

Mason, J. (2002). Qualitative Researching. London: SAGE.

Mathur, M.S., & Malhotra, G.A. (2003). *Too Young to Wed: The Lives, Rights, and Health of Young Married Girls*. International Center for Research on Women (ICRW). Washington, D.C.

Mendelsohn, O., Vicziany M. (1998). *The Untouchables: Subordination, Poverty and the State in Modern India*. Cambridge, Cambridge University Press.

Merriam, S.B. (2009). Qualitative Research. USA: Jossey-Bass.

Ministry of Education (MoE). 2012. *School Level Educational Statistics of Nepal*. Flash Report 2068-2069. Kathmandu: Government of Nepal.

Misra, C. (2010). *Badalido Nepal Samaj* [Changing Nepali Society] Kathmandu: Fine print IANC

Mohammed, S. I. (2000). *Female and girls: child education in Nigeria*. Proceeding of the educational Mini- Summit held on 29th November at Abuja, 90-95.

Mumtaz, K. (1995). *Gender issues in agricultural and rural development*. Paper for the Regional Expert Consultation, 1993, FAQ RAPA, Bangkok.

Nanda et al., (2012). *Study on Gender, Masculinity and Son Preference in Nepal and Vietnam*. New Delhi, International Centre for Research on Women.

Narayan, D. (2006) *Measuring Empowerment: Cross- disciplinary Perspectives*. New Delhi. Oxford University Press.

Pandey, J.K. (2014) "Women empowerment through Self-help Group: A Theoretical Perspective". Journal of culture, society and Development. Vol.4

Patton, M.Q. (2002). *Qualitative evaluation and research methods* (Third ed.): Sage Publications, Inc.

Patton, M.Q. (2002). *Qualitative evaluation and research methods*. (2nd ed.) Thousand Oaks, CA. SAGE publications.

Pokharel, U. (2012). Women empowerment through literacy class (Unpublished master's dissertation). Kathmandu University. Dhukhel, Nepal

Pye, W.L. 1985. Asian Power and Politics: The Cultural Dimensions of Authority: The Belknap Press of Harvard University Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts and London, England

Pykurel, U.P. (2007). *Dalit Assertion and Democratic Transition*: A paper presented at an international seminar on "Constitutionalism and Diversity in Nepal". Centre for Nepal and Asian Studies. Kathmandu, Nepal.

Randall, D., Harper, R., &Rouncefield, M. (2008). *Ethnography and How to DO It*. Field work for Design: Theory and Practice. London: Springer.

Rao, N., Cheno, K., &Narain, K. (2003). *Primary school in China and India:* Understanding how socio-contextual factors moderate the role of the state. International Review of Education, 49,1-2 153-175

Robson, C. (2002). Real World Research (2nd ed.). Oxford, UK: Blackwell Publishers Ltd.

Sama, J. N. (1994). The socio-economic role of rural Korn women in farming system of Cameroon. Journal for Farming System Research-Extension, 4 (2):15-25.

Schien, H. Edgar. 1985. Organisational culture and leadership: A Dynamic view; Jossey. Bass Publisher. San Francisco

Sethurman, K. Landsdown, R.& Sullivan, K. (2006). Women's Empowerment and Domestic Violence: The Role of Sociocultural Determinants in maternal and Child Undernutrition in Tribal and Rural Communities in South Nepal. Food and Nutrition Bulletin, Volume 27, Issue (2), 128-143

Shakeshaft, C. (1987). Women in educational administration. Newbury Park, CA: sage Publications.

Sharma K. (2007) *Gender Discrimination, Education and Property Rights:* A case study of Kewalani village, Rupendehi Nepal. MSc Thesis. Development of International Environment studies, Noragric. Norwegian University of Life Sciences.

Shrestha, Anita (2002)- *Dalit in Nepal*: Story of Discrimination, Asia- Pacific News, Available from: http://www.hurights.or.jp/asia-pacific/no_30/04.htm. (Accessed on 22-11-2016).

Silverman, D. (2005). *Doing Qualitative Research* (2nd ed.). London: SAGE Publications

Silverman, D. (2006). *Interpreting qualitative data* (3rd.Ed.), London: SAGE Publications.

Singh S., & Sharma, R. (1996). "Early marriage among women in developing countries" in International Family Planning Perspectives, vol.22, No 4 pp.148-157+175, Guttmacher Institute.

Subedi, P. (1997). Nepali women rising. Kathmandu: Sahayogi Press.

Subedi, Prativa (2010), Nepali Women at The Crossroads, Sahayogi Press, Kathmandu Nepal.

Subrahmanyan, L. (1999). A generation in transition: gender ideology of graduate students from India at an American University. In Gupta, S.R.(ED) *Emerging Voices: South Asian American Women redefine self, family and community* (pp.58-78). New Delhi: Sage Publications Ince

Terry, G., &Thapa, N. (2012). *Gender audit of Nepal's school sector reform program*. Cambridge: DFID Human Development Resource Centre.

Thapa, Deepak and Bandita Sijapati (2004). A Kingdom Under Siege: Nepal Maoist Insurgency, 1996 to 2004. Kathmandu: Print house.

Tharakkal, S. (2014). Diasporic Contradictions: *Indian (Hindu) Women Negotiating Canada Higher Education*, Department of Leadership, Higher and Adult Education University of Toronto. Available from:

https://tspace.libary.utoronto.ca/.../5/Tharakkal Sowmini 201403 MA thesis.pdf (Accessed on 23-09-2016).

The World Bank & Department for International Development (DFID) (2006). *Unequal citizens: Gender, caste and ethnic exclusion in Nepal-* summary. Available from: http://www.worldbank.org/external/default/WDSContentServer/WDSP/ib/2006/12/05/000090 341 20061205151859/Rendered/PDF/379660Nepal0GSEA0sSummary0Report0PUBLICI.pd <a href="mailto:feature-fault-fau

Thomas- Slayter, B. and Rocheleau, Dianne, (1995). *Gender environment and development in Kenya*: A grassroots perspective. London: YNNEE RIENNER Publisher.

U.N. General Assembly, *Universal Declaration of Human Rights*, 10 December 1948, 217 A(III). Available from http://www.refworld.org./docid/3ae6b3712c.html (Accessed on 15-11-2016).

UN. (1948). Universal declaration of human rights. UN General Assembly.

UNESCO (2011). *Education Counts towards the Millennium Development Goals*. Available from http://unsesdoc.unesco.org/images/0019/001902/1902114e.pdf (Accessed on 30-05-2016).

UNFPA (2005). Early marriage. In state of world population 2005.

UNFPA, 'Merry too young: End child marriage', (New York: UNFPA, publication.

UNICEF, "Early marriage: A harmful traditional practice" (UNICEF publication,2005), 12 Available from: https://www.unicef.org/publications/files/Early_Marriage12.lo.pdf (Accessed on 17-06-2017).

UNICEF. (2005). Early marriage strips children, especially girls, of their childhood. Available from: http://www.unicef.org/sowc06/profiles/marriage.php (Accessed on 20-02-2017).

United Nations Population Fund (2011). *Gender Equality: Empowering Women*. Available from http://www.unfpa.org/gender/empowerment.htm (Accessed on 07-12-2016).

Upadhaya, B. (2005) *Women and natural resource management*: illustrations from India and Nepal.

Upreti, B.C. 2007. *Nepal, Dictionary at Cross Road:* Post-1990 Dynamics, Issues, and Challenges. New Delhi: Kanishka Publisher, Distributor

Varma, S. K. (1992). *Women in agriculture*: A socio-economic analysis. New Delhi: Concept Publication Company.

Verma, R., Sinha, T., &Khanna, T. (2013). *Asia Child Marriage Initiative*: Summary of research in Bangladesh India and Nepal.

Wadley, S.S. (1992). Women in the Hindu tradition. In Jacobson, D. &Wadley, S.S.(Eds.), *Women in India: Two perspectives* (pp.111-136) New Delhi: Manohar Publishers & Distributors.

Walsham, G. (1995). *Interpretive case studies in IS research: nature and method*. European Journal of Information System, 4,74-81

Waring, M. (1996). *Three masquerades: Essays on equality, work and human rights*. Bridget Williams Books: Auckland University Press.

Wengraf, T. (2002). *Qualitative research interviewing*. Thousand OAKS, CA. Sage: Publications.

William, R. (1958)." *Culture is ordinary*", in Gate, R.(ed.) (1989) Resources of Hope Raymond Williams, London: Verso.

Williamson, N.E. (1976). *Sons or daughters*: A cross-cultural survey of parental preferences. Sage Publications Beverly Hills, CA.

Wimbush, E. (1987). *Transitions: Changing work, leisure and health experiences among mothers with young children*. In Allatt, P., Keil, T., Bryman, A. and Bytheway, B.(EDS.). In women and the life cycle: Transitions and turning-points. Basingstpke: Macmillan Press.

Yamanaka, M.& Ashworth, A. (2002). *Differential workloads of boys and girls in rural Nepal and their association with growth*. American Journal of Human Biology,14: 3,356-365.

Appendix 1: Interview guide

These questions translated Nepali into English

1.1 Personal Background of the Women

- Name
- Age
- Caste
- Education
- Work
- Number of children and their education and job
- Husband's education and occupation
- Number of family members at home

1.2 Questions

- Why didn't you go to school at early age?
- Why didn't you get an opportunity to go to school?
- Did you want to go to school at that time?
- What were the difficulties to go to school?
- What kind of works did you do at home?
- Did you ever ask your parents that you are interested to go to school with your brother?
- What did your parents think about daughter's education?
- Why did your parents want to send school only for son not for daughter?
- Why did a son is important in Nepalese culture?
- Why society needs a son?
- Could you please share your childhood experiences?
- Why did nobody want to send school their daughters in the communities?
- Why did you get married at early age?
- When did you get married? please tell me your age?
- Did you ever encourage people in the communities who didn't want to send school to their daughters? Please describe what did you say them?
- why did your parents need a son?

- Did you send your daughter to school?
- What is the main reason that women didn't get educational opportunity?
- Do you think cultural beliefs and practices is the main reasons to influence daughter's education in Nepalese society?
- What do you think about education? Did you fell any difficulties life without education? Please describe your situation or challenges before and after getting married?
- What did you do if you got an education opportunity?
- Are you still interested to join the literacy program?

Only for lower caste women

- Why didn't lower caste people allow to go to school?
- Why did high caste people dominate to lower caste?
- What did high caste people say? If lower caste people enter their home?
- Was your father worked for high caste families in his whole life?
- Was your father forced you to work for high caste families?
- Did your parents send to school to your brothers?
- Why did high caste people humiliate to lower caste?
- Did your parents have enough land and income sources?
- Did high people change in the communities?
- What do you think about daughter's education?
- Are there some changes in the situation with education of the lower caste women?

Appendix :2 Map of Nepal, showing the research district. Ramechhap



Source: - http://naturekhabar.com/en/archives/3175